

Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Master's Thesis 2023 30 ECTS Department of Animal and Aquacultural Sciences (IHA) Faculty of Biosciences

Production efficiency, fish welfare and colorimetric characteristics in skin and fillets of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*S. salar*) fed diets supplemented with grass protein (*M. sativa*) in a freshwater RASsystem

Richard Taknes Master of Science in Aquaculture

Acknowledgements

This thesis was written in a collaborative effort between the Norwegian University of Life Sciences and feed producer Aller Aqua. I want to thank Aller Aqua for financing this study, without them I could not have written a thesis about this exciting topic.

I also owe a great debt of gratitude to my supervisor Professor Turid Mørkøre, who not only has given me good advice, but also had a cheerful demeanor throughout the study and tolerated my many questions.

A special thanks is owed to Research Assistants Julia Formanowicz and Marte Røsvik for helping me with questions large and small, and especially with better understanding the statistics of the experiment.

I also want to extend my thanks to Ricardo Tavares Benicio for all his input and the knowledge I gained from working with him on the feed production, as well as his help with details minor and major at the end of the thesis period.

Thank you to all my co-students who participated in the final sampling as well.

Finally, I want to thank my partner Lina for her patience and support during these trying times, as well as our dogs Gabi and Zuma for their unconditional love which relieved my stress countless times.

December 15th, 2022. Richard Taknes

Abstract

The objective of this study was to investigate the effects of serial inclusion (0, 5, 10, 15, and 20%) of alfalfa protein concentrate (APC) in relation to production efficiency, welfare, and colorimetric characteristics of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) cultivated in a freshwater RAS-system. The feed producers utilized in this study was Aller Aqua and Cefetra Group, of which the former was the financial benefactor of the trials. In relation to growth parameters, we wanted to observe whether APC included feeds was competitive with commercial feed formulations. Regarding welfare several parameters were measured. It was monitored for scale loss, skin bleeding and emaciation state externally by using the collaborative welfare assessment standard "FISHWELL Morphological Operational Welfare Indicators (OWI's) for farmed Atlantic salmon v1.1" outlined by Noble *et al.* (2018). For quantification of internal welfare parameters blood plasma was extracted and analyzed for enzymes associated with salmonid muscle, heart, and mitochondrial function.

It was also of interest to monitor if the experimental feed affected skin and filet color of Atlantic salmon. Color is an important aspect of consumer impression of the product quality. Measurements of potential colorimetric changes were carried out by use of the CIELAB color space outlined by CIE (1977).

Though the experiment was conducted over a relatively short time span, alfalfa infused diets were found to differ signficantly from the control in several parameters. SGR was significantly reduced between control and 20% alfalfa inclusion. FCR was also determined to be significantly higher in all alfalfa dietary treatments. This was also true for final body weight and length as well. Condition factor was significantly higher in the 15% alfalfa treatment compared with control. Liver weight and hepatosomatic indices increased significantly between control and 20% APC inclusion. APC inclusion did not affect fish welfare across all dietary treatments. APC feed led to a significant increase in fillet greenness (negative shift in a*-value) in CIELAB color space, while fish skin colorimetric measurements were inconclusive. No mortalities were recorded in the study. The experiment commenced on April 14th, 2023, and had a duration of 6.5 weeks (45 days), terminating on June 1st – 2nd where sample extraction for selected analyses was done. Fish were cultivated at Centre for Fish Trials at NMBU (Ås, Norway). Final termination occurred on June 9th, where slaughter of the last specimens took place. An extension was needed to produce enough fecal matter for analysis of growth and faeces scoring.

Table of Contents

| Acknowledgements |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Abstract2 |
| 1. Introduction |
| 1.1 Hypothesis formulation7 |
| 2. Theoretical framework7 |
| 2.1 Salmonid nutrition7 |
| 2.2 Alfalfa Protein Concentrate (APC) - Processing and production |
| 2.3 Nutritional content of APC |
| 2.4 Formerly studied effects of APC inclusion in aquafeeds13 |
| 2.5 Colorimetry |
| 2.6 Body characteristics and fillet quality16 |
| 2.7 Fish welfare |
| 3. Materials and method |
| 3.1 Study design |
| 3.3 Feed production |
| 3.4 Sampling, analyses, and data collection |
| 3.5 Welfare assessment methodology |
| 3.6 Statistical analysis |
| 3.7 Calculations |
| 4. Results |
| 4.1 Growth and feed conversion ratio |
| 4.2 Biometric traits |
| 4.3 Liver |
| 4.4 Fish welfare |
| 4.5 Colorimetric analysis |
| 4.6 Faeces |
| 5. Discussion |
| 5.1 Growth and FCR |
| 5.2 Biometric traits |
| 5.3 Liver |
| 5.5 Colorimetry – CIELAB results |
| 5.6 Faeces scoring |
| 6. Conclusion |
| 7. Appendix |

| 7.1 FISHWELL Welfare indicators | 49 |
|---------------------------------|----|
| 7. 2 Cefetra APC content sheet | 50 |
| 8. References | 51 |

1. Introduction

From its inception in the mid-1960's to the present date the salmonid aquaculture industry has seen a shift in choice of feed ingredients (Tilseth *et al.*, 1991). The shift is characterized by a gradual replacement of marine ingredients (i.e., fish meal and oil) as the main dietary protein and lipid sources with plant-based ingredients such as soy protein and rapeseed oil (MOWI, 2022). Fish meal has traditionally been used in the aquafeed due to its complete nutritional profile, inhabiting essential fatty acids (EFA) as well as essential amino acids (EAA) (Daniel, 2018). However, a change was necessitated in salmon feed composition due to overfishing of wild fish stocks, which still is a major issue in the ongoing fisheries today. As a result, the growth of capture fisheries has remained stagnant, settling at 90.3 million tons in 2020 (a decrease from previous years) and maintaining a similar harvest volume from 1985 up to present time. (FAO, 2022). In contrast worldwide aquaculture production has seen substantial growth, experiencing an approximate doubling of production volume from 2000 to 2020 (FAO, 2022).

It is estimated that food fish supply met by aquaculture will range between 60–70% by the year 2030 (Subasinghe *et al.*, 2009). In aquaculture the primary limitation to production is constituted by external inputs such as feed (Tacon & Metian, 2015). Consequently, the availability of the feed itself is determined by the availability of the ingredients required to produce it. This in turn leads to considerable competition for ingredients among the actors in the industry.

The combined factors of limited supply and high demand are making fish meal and fish oil more costly to attain for producers. It is important that aquaculture produces a net amount of more fish for human consumption than it uses for feed production purposes. The aquaculture industry must then look to new avenues of exploitation to meet fish nutrition demands (Hardy, 2010). Most research agrees that based on factors of availability, wild stock conservation and economics that the leading alternative should be plant based. This does however raise the issue of whether plant-based ingredients can compete with the nutritional profile of fishmeal, and if not, whether they affect fish performance and welfare negatively (Daniel, 2018).

Since the decline of fishmeal- and oil availability the leading ingredient in salmon feed has been soybeans. Soy is a readily available protein and lipid source which has been the chief ingredient since ca. 2005-2010 and onwards (NCE Seafood Innovation, 2022). There is however a notable presence of antinutritional factors (ANF) in soy (i.e. lectins, saponins,

phytate etc.) which requires additional processing to be optimized for salmon as a feed ingredient. While the levels and types of ANFs are greatly reduced by processing soybeans into a soy protein concentrate (SPC), there are still problematic ANFs left in SPC after solvent extraction such as fiber and phytate (Gajardo, 2016). Use of full fat soy and solvent-extracted soy protein is therefore limited in feed due to their documented negative effects on salmonid growth and gut health (Krogdahl et al., 2015). Soy is additionally associated with the deforestation of the Amazon rainforest in South America (Pacheco *et al.*, 2021). In addition, the transportation over large distances (i.e., Brazil to Norway) also contributes to making soy a less environmentally sustainable alternative (Josefsen *et al.*, 2023).

In Norwegian salmon farming the feed cost has remained steady at an approximate 50% of the total production costs (MOWI, 2022). It is imperative that such high numbers of investment are reciprocated in the growth and performance of the fish for a successful production volume and economical yield.

In recent years other plant-based protein sources have been considered and researched. Alfalfa protein concentrate (APC) is one of the prospective sources for supplying the protein demand of salmon farming. Alfalfa (*Medicago sativa spp. sativa*) is an important forage crop existing in multiple parts of the world. Forage crops are low trophic plants that constitute grasslands, which a wide variety of animals graze on (Putnam & Orloff, 2014). For categorical purposes alfalfa can essentially be labelled as *grass*. Because of the nature of the protein source APC will for simplicity interchangeably be referred to as grass protein (GP) in this thesis. GP has larger quantities of certain limiting amino acids than SPC, such as methionine, while having competitive amounts of lysine (see table 1). GP is also rich in other desirable components such as omega-3 fatty acids and carotenoids (Samac *et al.*, 2019).

With its complete nutritional profile and lesser amounts of ANFs, GP could be a future ingredient of salmon feeds. However, as with all new ingredients, it is important to monitor how GP substitution affects fish welfare. Welfare is an important aspect of fish husbandry, not only for fish growth and performance, but also to give a worthy life to the cultivated species without unnecessary suffering (Noble *et al.*, 2018). The goal of any new ingredient should therefore be to optimize performance in conjunction with welfare, not at the expense of it.

The present aim of this study was to see how serial inclusion (0, 5, 10, 15, and 20%) of GP would affect the production efficiency parameters, welfare, and colorimetric characteristics of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*S. salar*) cultivated in a freshwater RAS-system.

1.1 Hypothesis formulation

The following hypotheses were formulated:

 $H_1 = GP$ inclusion rate will *not* affect production efficiency significantly.

 $H_2 = GP$ Inclusion rate will *not* affect fish welfare significantly.

 $H_3 = GP$ inclusion rate will *not* affect fish skin/fillet color significantly.

2. Theoretical framework

2.1 Salmonid nutrition

Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) is an anadromous species of fish with a carnivorous feeding strategy (Rungruangsak-Torrissen, 2014). This entails a predominant reliance upon the macro compounds of protein and fat to meet their nutritional demands. Atlantic salmon therefore has a reduced capacity for digesting carbohydrates, which is grounded in their low α -amylase and α -glucosidase enzymatic activity (Hemre, 2001). While naturally a carnivore (i.e., piscivore), aquaculture has experimented with protein and lipids from plant-based origins in salmon feeds which is now the established practice (Egerton *et al.*, 2020).

For juvenile salmon it is normal to have a crude protein content of 50-55% in the feed (Storebakken, 2002). Salmon are also incapable of synthesizing omega-3 (n-3) and omega-6 (n-6) fatty acids *in vivo* and are in turn dependent upon attaining these through their diet (Storebakken, 2002). Juvenile salmon requirements for n-3 fatty acids are approximately 1% of dry feed on the condition that the n-3 fatty acid composition primarily contains the long chain marine PUFA's 20:5n-3 (EPA) and 22:6n-3 (DHA). Failure to meet these demands may lead to increased mortalities and stunted growth (Storebakken, 2002). It is important to consider these factors during feed formulation and ensure that the macro compounds are proportional to the requirements.

2.2 Alfalfa Protein Concentrate (APC) - Processing and production

Alfalfa protein concentrate (APC) is a form of leaf protein concentrate (LPC). Leaf protein concentrates are protein-rich byproducts generated from wet fractionation (i.e., mechanical grinding and pressing) of plant leaves (Fiorentini & Galoppini, 1983). The result is a protein rich leaf juice and fibrous press cake (Fiorentini & Galoppini, 1983). APC follows the general manner of production as LPC and green biomass related products (figure 1) (McEniy & O' Kiely, 2014).



Figure 1: Chart depicting the general processing pathways of green biomass and its possible utilizations, which alfalfa (M. sativa) protein falls within. GP is produced via the press-juice pathway on the left side of the chart. Source: McEniy & O' Kiely 2014.

Harvested alfalfa (M. sativa) leaves and stems are grinded and further processed into APC by mechanical pressing. Pressing involves passing the grass raw material through several mills to sufficiently break down the cell wall and release intracellular contents (Møller et al., 2021). Most of leaf protein exists in the chloroplasts within the mesophyll of the cell membranes (ca. 80%), followed by the cytosol (ca. 20%), mitochondria (< 5%), and lastly the nucleus (ca. 1-2%) (Fiorentini & Galoppini, 1983). The solid press cake is then pressed again to separate the maximum amount of juice from it (Domokos-Szabolcsy et al., 2023). This is because only 46-53% of the total alfalfa protein is extracted at this stage, the residual protein being bound up in the press cake (Hanna & Ogden, 1980). One can also utilize a twin-screw extruder set up for optimizing pressure and shearing forces to produce a higher juice yield than by using only milling, resulting in up to 60-65% fluid extraction rate from the leaves and a protein content of over 50% (Domokos-Szabolcsy et al., 2023). The residual press cake still contains a considerable amount of protein which is still attainable to an extent and can be reprocessed to this end by adding more water mix before pressing. (Knuckles et al., 1972) Pressing done under mildly alkaline conditions (pH 7.0 - 8.0) has been suggested to improve cell wall disruption and protein recovery rate (Santamaría-Fernández & Lübeck, 2020).

Elevating the pH above neutral (pH 7.0) can help accelerate the breakdown of cell walls during pressing and may lead to higher protein yields (Domokos-Szabolcsy et al., 2023). However, it may also lead to premature denaturation of proteins if that limit is exceeded. The same is also true for excessive heating of leaf proteins (Santamaría-Fernández & Lübeck, 2020).

The juice is then heat treated (via steam injection in Cefetra Group APC) to facilitate thermal coagulation and further separate the protein fraction from the fibrous fraction in the liquid (Coburn *et al.*, 2021). Coagulation occurs when the heating causes changes in the conformation of the protein, making it less water soluble (i.e., more extractable) by opening hydrophobic sites in the structure (Bals *et al.*, 2012). While heat coagulation of the juice for protein recovery is the most common there are other methods available. Acid precipitation is one such method which has shown promising total APC yields (Samac *et al.*, 2019). Other means of concentrating the proteins from the juice include membrane filtration and fermentation (Nissen *et al.*, 2022).

After undergoing coagulation, the juice is centrifuged to filtrate the proteins from the fiber-rich liquid. Any residual moisture is removed by way of drying. (Coburn *et al.*, 2021) After the drying process the protein concentrate is compacted into pellets and further stored under positive refrigeration (appendix 7.2). While not palatable to humans and other monogastrics the press cake can in turn be used as ruminant feed, thus improving bio-circularity, and promoting synergy between aqua- and agrifeeds (Coburn *et al.*, 2021). Alfalfa also requires less amounts of inputs such as irrigation and heating in comparison with soy and can be grown in many European regions as well (Li & Brummer, 2012). Additionally, alfalfa also has a reduced need for nitrogen-based fertilizers due to its inherent capability for nitrogen fixation from the surrounding environment (Santamaría-Fernández & Lübeck, 2020). Leaves, including alfalfa forage, constitutes the largest biomass of protein in the world and has a massive potential for utilization in both feed and food (figure 2) (Fiorentini & Galoppini, 1983; Aas *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 2: Bar chart depicting the potential that different terrestrial resources have in supplying the future protein demands of aquaculture. Grass, including alfalfa protein concentrate, inhabits most of the potential in the coming years. Source: Aas et al., 2019

2.3 Nutritional content of APC

After processing APC protein amounts range between 50-55%. The APC producer (Cefetra Group) utilized in this study estimated a guaranteed 50% crude protein content (see appendix 7.2). While crude protein is not the equivalent of an exact protein content, it gives an estimate on total protein in the APC via the amount of nitrogen present (N \times 6.25). It has however been contested that the 6.25 factor is outdated and should be lower for plant proteins (N \times 5.36), of which alfalfa falls within (Salo-väänänen & Koivistoinen, 1996). One must also consider that part of the nitrogen is bound up in other structures than proteins referred to as non-protein nitrogen (NPN). This may lead to an overestimation of the protein present in the concentrate (Koschuh *et al.*, 2004).

APC also has high amounts of amino acids often recognized as limiting for salmon. These include amino acids such as lysine, methionine, and threonine (Coburn *et al.*, 2021). If an amino acid is limiting it means that it is a crucial component in protein synthesis and consequently for the growth of the fish. More specifically, a limiting amino acid is an essential (i.e., the organism cannot produce automatically) amino acid that is low in quantity and is therefore exhausted quickly during protein synthesis (Lopez & Mohiuddin, 2023).

For salmonids these scarce amino acids are constituted by methionine (0,7% requirement in diet formulation), threonine (1.4 %), arginine (1.6 - 2.2%) and lysine (2 - 2.2%). Among these the first limiting amino acids are recognized to be methionine and

lysine, which producers must take into consideration during feed formulation (Peterson *et al.*, 2022). These will often have to be supplemented in the feed formulations when using other plant-based protein sources like SBM or SPC (Aas *et al.*, 2019). The micro ingredient portion of salmon feed has seen a steady increase since 1990 and onwards, mainly due to the need for balancing out the AA-composition of the feed. This is done by addition of scarce AAs to the feed, which are supplemented as crystalline-AA compounds (Aas *et al.*, 2019). With APC being composed of higher amounts of salmonid EAA this would potentially result in a lesser micro-ingredient cost. APC is therefore in principle well suited to supply salmonid nutrient requirements. APC also has a fat content of approximately 10% (100g / kg) of which 4% (40g / kg) is omega-3 and exclusively represented by alpha-linolenic acid (18:3 n-3). It is also rich in micronutrients such as antioxidants (i.e., carotene, xanthophyll), minerals and vitamins (Coburn *et al.*, 2021). With regard to minerals, it has very high amounts of potassium, calcium and phosphorus (Domokos-Szabolcsy *et al.*, 2023). In vitamins and associated compounds APC is rich in vitamin E and choline, the latter of which is often associated with vit-B complexes (see table 1) (Britannica, 2023).

Table 1: Comparative nutritional content of APC, SPC and FM. All data values listed as fed. Note: APC values collected from producer Cefetra Group content sheet (appendix 7.2) as well as feedtables.com where the producer did not explicitly state the given parameter. f = feedtables.com

| Component | APC | SPC | FM | Unit |
|----------------------------|---------------------|-------|------|---------|
| Dry matter | 92 | 93.3 | 92.2 | % |
| Crude protein | 50 | 64.7 | 69 | % |
| Crude fibre | 2.3 | 4.1 | 0 | % |
| Crude fat | 10.5 | 1 | 9.1 | % |
| Ash | 11 | 6.1 | 14 | % |
| Insoluble ash | $0.7^{\rm f}$ | 0.03 | 0.4 | % |
| NDF | 13.8 | 9.8 | 5.3 | % |
| ADF | 2.8 | 5.3 | 0.3 | % |
| Lignin | 1.5 ^f | 0.2 | 0.2 | % |
| Water insoluble cell walls | 9.5 ^f | 9 | 4.6 | % |
| Starch | 0.9^{f} | 7.5 | 0 | % |
| Total sugars | 0.7^{f} | 0.8 | 0 | % |
| Gross Energy | 4854 | 4590 | 4680 | kcal/kg |
| Gross Energy | 20.32 | 19.2 | 19.6 | mj/kg |
| Vitamins and pigments | | | | |
| Xantophylls | 800 | ND* | ND | mg/kg |
| Vitamin E | 400 | 0 | 19.6 | mg/kg |
| Carotene | 405 | ND | ND | mg/kg |
| Vitamin K | 100^{f} | 0 | 2.2 | mg/kg |
| Vitamin D | $0^{\rm f}$ | 0 | 2 | mg/kg |
| Vitamin A | $207^{\rm f}$ | 0 | 0 | mg/kg |
| Vitamin B1 thiamin | 2.6 ^f | 31.6 | 0.3 | mg/kg |
| Vitamin B2 riboflavin | 4.5 ^f | 14.2 | 9.2 | mg/kg |
| Vitamin B6 pyridoxine | 83.4 ^f | 13.4 | 4.9 | mg/kg |
| Niacin | $6^{\rm f}$ | 71.6 | 103 | mg/kg |
| Choline | 1190 ^f | 2720 | 4702 | mg/kg |
| Amino acids | | | | |
| Lysine | 3 | 4.03 | 5.2 | % |
| Threonine | 2.93 | 2.36 | 2.86 | % |
| Methionine | 1.02 | 0.91 | 1.92 | % |
| Cystine | 0.48 | 1.06 | 0.58 | % |
| Tryptophan | 0.77 | 0.95 | 0.71 | % |
| Isoleucine | 2.51 | 2.91 | 2.9 | % |
| Valine | 2.98 | 3.12 | 3.43 | % |
| Leucine | 4.41 | 4.99 | 4.95 | % |
| Phenylalanine | 2.96 | 3.27 | 2.68 | % |
| Tyrosine | 2.12 | 2.26 | 2.13 | % |
| Histidine | 1.25 | 0.17 | 1.64 | % |
| Arginine | 2.98 | 4.73 | 4.5 | % |
| Aspartic acid | 5.01 ^f | 7.38 | 6.27 | % |
| Glutamic acid | 5.5 ^f | 11.70 | 8.75 | % |
| Glycine | $2.71^{\rm f}$ | 2.66 | 4.31 | % |
| Serine | 2.19 ^f | 2.75 | 2.69 | % |
| Proline | 2.34^{f} | 3.19 | 2.79 | % |

(Feedtables 2023a). All data on SPC and FM collected from feedtables.com (Feedtables 2023b & 2023c). *ND =No data.

2.4 Formerly studied effects of APC inclusion in aquafeeds

In studies done by the University of Minnesota (UMN), researchers Samac *et al.*, 2019 found that diets with inclusion of APC were palatable to the species of yellow perch and rainbow trout. While there were no significant differences in growth parameters by inclusion of APC it did not affect feed intake of the fish. (Samac *et al.*, 2019) Given the similarities in anatomy with rainbow trout this indicates that APC-based feed can be palatable to the Atlantic salmon (*S. salar*) as well. While somewhat less comparable to salmon, other studies have experimented with substituting soy-based protein (SBM) with APC in varying degrees in feed for nile tilapia (*O. niloticus*) Abd El-Hakim *et al.*, 2009 discovered that higher inclusion rates (i.e., 50 and 75%) lead to a significant decrease in final fish weight compared to the control group. An inclusion of 25% showed no significant difference from the SBM fed control group in relation to several growth parameters (Abd El-Hakim *et al.*, 2009).

In an earlier study by Olvera-Novoa *et al.*, 1990 on the effects of gradually increasing substitution of fish meal with APC in the diet of tilapia (*O. mossambicus*) found positive results at some percentages. The study concluded that a 35% replacement of the fish meal with APC showed better growth than the control, but anything above this repressed fish growth (Olvera-Novoa *et al.*, 1990). All the above indicates that APC inclusion is a complex but potentially promising prospect for protein substitution in aquafeeds. It must however be tested further and optimized for salmon.

2.5 Colorimetry

2.5.1 CIELAB

Quantification of changes in color in both skin and muscle can be done utilizing the CIELAB color space (CIE, 1977). CIELAB functions as a 3D coordinate system for colors. A given sample will exhibit a certain set of photometric properties (light/dark, red/green etc.) which locates it at a specific color "coordinate" in the system (Ly *et al.*, 2020). CIELAB is a method within the field of measurement that is known as colorimetry. CIE stands for Commission Internationale de l'Eclairage, who standardized the method. L*, a*, and b* each denotes different photometric parameters respectively (Ly *et al.*, 2020). The asterisk behind the letter in each parameter is simply there to distinguish it from other laboratory techniques utilizing the same sign in denotation. (Ly *et al.*, 2020)

It is possible to measure color changes in both fish skin and filet using subjective judgment in conjunction with scoring criteria and labeling, yet it is important to note the advantage in accuracy and consequent scientific validity of using quantifiable methods such as CIELAB. In using quantitative measurements, we avoid the bias and potential irregularity of observation linked to subjective scoring. (Ly *et al.*, 2020)

While indeed subjective observation and scoring cards were used in other parts of the experiment (i.e., liver color and feces solidity scoring) it was of importance that a quantitative measurement like CIELAB was utilized to detect any minute changes in skin- and muscle color as a result of the GP inclusion. During the experiment it was desirable to monitor such changes because of the importance it has for seafood consumer acceptance.



Figure 3: Three-dimensional axis diagrams of CIELAB color space showing the relationship between *L**, *a** and *b** values with associated ranges, as well as the relation between chrome and hue. *Source: Ly et al., 2020 & Konica Minolta, 2019.*

The L* value represents a point along the L*-axis in the three-dimensional CIELAB color space. This measurement is in grayscale, meaning there is no visible coloration in the different shades along the range of the L*-axis, but that rather it tells us the degree of luminosity (lightness/darkness) of a given sample (Ly *et al.*, 2020). The L*-value therefore correlates with and signifies the degree of pigmentation in the sample or specimen. This ranges from a value of 0 (black) to 100 (white) (Ly *et al.*, 2020). For example, in colorimetric analysis of fish filets one can envision a salmonid fish having a higher degree of

pigmentation and therefore a lower L*-value than a codfish, due to its red muscle being inherently darker than white muscle and consequently less luminous.

The a* value indicates the redness or greenness of an object or specimen. If we observe the a*-axis in figure 2 and 3 we can see that a positive (+) a*-value indicates a certain redness, whereas a negative (-) a*-value is indicative of greenness in the visual properties of the object. It is the same with the b*-axis, albeit that one is then measuring yellowness (+) or blueness (-) (Ünal Şengör *et al.*, 2019).

As one moves in either direction from the colorless intersection of the axes (see figure 2) the degree of saturation increases. (Konica Minolta, 2019b) This can be observed in figure 2, where the colors located towards the center are more "transparent" and less intense than the colors on the outlying a* and b* coordinates. Saturation can then be described as the purity of the color and is dictated by the degree of absence of the achromatic colors of white, gray, and black (Jiménez Guerrero, 2018). As one move towards and along the center L*-axis the degree of purity diminishes as the presence of achromatic colors increase, hence resulting in less saturated color values (Jiménez Guerrero, 2018).

2.5.3 Colorimetric analysis – MinoltaTM

While the CIELAB color space allows us to map out and categorize the color and luminosity data of a sample in a three-dimensional space, the Minolta[™] (KONICA MINOLTA, Japan) chromameter technology is how we obtain that data. Minolta is therefore a colorimetric (i.e., chromatic) measuring device which measures the concentrations of each primary color in a sample, thus determining an exact chromatic signature by using light projection and reflection (Konica Minolta, 2023) At the point of the handheld Minolta device is a light projection tube which is placed in contact with the sample or specimen. It is important that the glass of the tube is placed in close proximity to the object of analysis so that no external light interference occurs, otherwise it might lead to erroneous L*, a*, and b*-values. Inside the device are two light sources placed identically to each side, emitting light at an angle of 45 degrees relative to both sample and sensor (see figure 4). (Konica Minolta, 2023) The reflected light passes through the trichromatic lens filter. The filter is based upon the three primary colors: red, blue, and green. The reflected light is dispersed into its component colors according to wavelength and captured by the colorimeter device through the filters. The data on color dispersion and luminosity is what determines the sample's chromaticity coordinates in the CIELAB color space. (Ly et al., 2020)

It is important to note that only colors within the framework of the trichromatic lens (i.e., red, blue, and green wavelengths) are captured. This exclusion is essentially the difference between the colorimeter and the spectrophotometer, the latter of which utilizes a monochromatic filter for *all* colors between 360-700 nm (many unobservable to the human eye) (Ly *et al.*, 2020) Colorimetric analysis is based on the tri-stimulus of the primary colors and utilizes those in light filtration due to their corresponding with photoreceptor cells (i.e. cones) in the human eye that facilitate color perception (Teimouri *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 4: Working principle of a colorimeter/ chromameter (Ly et al., 2020).

2.6 Body characteristics and fillet quality

2.6.1 Body shape and composition

Salmonids are naturally fast and durable swimmers with streamlined bodies. Regarding farmed salmon this can be an important feature in the sale of whole fish, but also tells us something about the internal composition of the fish. Our subjective perception of the leanness (or lack thereof) in the fish can be objectively quantified by calculating the relationship between the fish length and weight (see section 3.7). This is otherwise known as the condition factor (K) (Mørkøre, 2023). A high CF in the fish may therefore be indicative of excessive visceral fat accumulation relative to the length at a given life stage. It may also be an indication of vertebral deformity if excessive in early life stages (Hansen *et al.*, 2010). On a more positive view a high CF may also indicate a higher filet volume, implying weight gain in the desired parts of the fish. It is therefore imperative for a high filet yield that the feed formulation facilitates weight gain in muscle and not visceral fat (Mørkøre, 2023). It is

important to note that it is inconsequential whether it is SBM or APC that is used as a plantbased protein source as salmon will still generate *marine protein* in the muscle composition (MOWI, 2022). This is however not the case with lipid deposition, of which the salmon will accumulate the type of lipids that it consumes. Vegetable sources as a substitution for marine protein is therefore less problematic than the use of vegetable oils in place of marine lipids (Mørkøre, 2023).

2.6.2 Skin and fillet color

Color is an important aspect of consumer acceptance of fish as food (Ünal Şengör *et al.*, 2018). Salmon filets should have a pink to red-like color, anything that deviates from this is likely to be looked on with less favorability and reduce product market value. This is an occurring phenomenon in Italian trout farms, where algal spring blooms lead to increased yellowness in the filet and consequently lower market prices (Welker *et al.*, 2001). Rosenau *et al.*, (2022) found a significant linkage between spirulina (*A. platensis*) inclusion and red/yellow fillet color shifts for three salmonid species. This was also the case for Skalli *et al.*, (2020) who experimented with green microalgae *Scenedesmus sp.*, resulting in a yellow color shift in juvenile rainbow trout (*O. mykiss*) fillet (Skalli *et al.*, 2020). Introducing new feed ingredients is therefore not without issue and may thus lead to unwanted effects in the product.

In salmon farming producers utilize dietary carotenoids to maintain the desired coloration of the filet. These are primarily constituted by astaxanthin, as well as canthaxanthin to a lesser extent (Storebakken, 2002). These pigment compounds help give the filet its characteristic color (Teimouri *et al.*, 2013). This process is what is otherwise known as pigment feeding and is an essential practice to maintain salmon product market value (Mørkøre, 2023).

Salmon skin color is affected by the number and type of chromatophores present in the dermis. Chromatophores are specialized cells in the fish skin containing different pigments (Teimouri et al., 2013). Potential quantified color changes in CIELAB may thus be related to the fish gaining more of a specific chromatophore and their related pigmentation. Because of GP and its prominent green color characteristics such changes are not unthinkable upon inclusion in the feed formulation.

2.7 Fish welfare

All vertebrates are protected under the Norwegian Animal Welfare Act (2009) (Noble *et al.*, 2018). This includes fish, and therein salmonids, cultivated in either farming or researchbased contexts. Suboptimal conditions of cultivation can lead to negative effects on production output via disease outbreaks, excess mortalities, and stunted growth. Fish welfare is therefore not only an important feature of sustainable aquaculture, but of effective production as well (Noble *et al.* 2018). Regardless of the goals of production or research, farmed salmon are still entitled to a life without unnecessary painful conditions (Noble *et al.*, 2018).

2.7.1 Welfare Indicators

In this experiment welfare assessment was done by looking at multiple aspects. When measuring fish welfare, a common method is by using *welfare indicators* (WI). WI can be described on multiple levels to give an estimate of fish welfare (Noble *et al.*, 2018). WI can be direct (i.e., animal based) as when relating directly to the properties or condition of the fish. WI can also be indirect as when related to production environment (i.e., oxygen levels, uneaten feed accumulation etc.) (Noble *et al.*, 2018). Direct and indirect WI can further be elaborated on an either individual level or in the context of a group (Noble *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, some WI are better suited for on-site observation and are therefore referred to as operational WI (OWI). Welfare parameters that are harder to estimate on site often require external analysis in laboratories. This includes parameters related to the internal states of the fish (i.e., molecular imbalances, homeostasis etc.). These are therefore referred to as lab-based WI (LABWI) (Noble *et al.*, 2018).

In this study a conjunction of OWI and LABWI was utilized to indicate fish welfare. It was of interest to observe whether GP included feeds led to detrimental effects in skin condition of the fish. Moreover, it was of interest to see if GP diets had any effect on the CF and whether it would lead to elevated or stunted growth. Among the OWI used were skin related parameters such as skin bleeding (i.e., hemorrhages) and scale loss. Scale loss and damage to skin is hazardous to fish welfare, as the scale and mucosal layer surrounding them is the first line of defense against infections and pathogens (Noble *et al.* 2018). Wounds or bleeding can also be signs of detriment in osmoregulatory function (Noble *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, it was also observed whether the fish were emaciated (i.e., emaciation state) to any extent compared to

fish fed a standard diet composition. This was measured by calculating CF, of which a value of < 0.9 is interpreted as emaciation in the fish. A disproportionately high CF may conversely point to vertebral deformities in the fish (Hansen *et al.*, 2010). It is however important to consider that CF varies with life stage and season and is thus naturally lower at certain times of the year and during developmental stages (Stien *et al.*, 2013).

Other welfare parameters were dependent upon further laboratory-based analysis. This includes organosomatic indices like the hepatosomatic index (HSI), which expresses the relationship between the liver and the total body weight (Noble *et al.*, 2018). Otherwise, the LABWIs were constituted by enzymes which were looked for in the blood plasma of the fish. Among the LABWI measured was creatine kinase (CK), aspartate transaminase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT).

CK is an enzyme that functions as a catalyst in the reversible reaction occurring between creatine and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) into phosphocreatine (PCr) and adenosine diphosphate (ADP) (Aujla & Patel, 2022). It is therefore an important component in energy demanding chain reactions such as muscle contraction (Aujla & Patel, 2022). CK is most prevalent in skeletal musculature, heart (myocardium) and brain tissue (Cabaniss, 1990). CK is an intracellular enzyme and should not circulate in the body as this may be an indication of disrupted cell membranes in the tissues CK inhabit. The breakdown of cell membranes consequently causes CK to leak into the circulatory system from the cytosol of the cell (Cabaniss, 1990). Presence of CK in blood plasma is therefore associated with injury or detrimental states in heart, skeletal muscle, or brain (Cabaniss, 1990). There are three isoenzymes of CK that have been detected in fish (including Atlantic salmon): CK-M (muscle CK), CK-B (brain CK) and mitochondrial sarcomeric CK (Rojas *et al.*, 2018). This makes it possible to identify the origin of eventual CK leakage and locate potential damage to tissues. Presence of CK in serum (or lack thereof) may thus be used as an indication of fish welfare.

AST is an intracellular enzyme whose primary function is to catalyze the reversible transferal of an amino group between the amino acids of aspartate and glutamate (Aulbach & Amuzie 2017). AST exists in the cytosol of liver cells (i.e., hepatocytes) as well as in skeletal muscle (Aulbach & Amuzie, 2017). When injury occur to these types of cells AST is leaked out into the blood stream, which in turn results in elevated AST levels in plasma. AST presence in the blood plasma will therefore be an indication of damage to either hepatocytes or skeletal muscle structures (Aulbach & Amuzie, 2017).

ALT shares some similarities with AST such as inhabiting the cytosol of liver cells and skeletal musculature. Upon eventual damage to these tissues and consequent leakage, ALT levels are predominantly detected in higher quantities than AST (Aulbach & Amuzie, 2017). This is due to the comparatively longer half-life of ALT and that much of the intracellular AST is bound up in mitochondria (Aulbach & Amuzie, 2017). Both ALT and AST are useful markers for diagnosing liver and kidney imbalances in salmonid fish (Dessen *et al.*, 2020). In this way AST/ALT measurements can also be utilized for assessment of fish welfare.

3. Materials and method

3.1 Study design

Juvenile salmon parr (n = 375, starting weight = 22.4 g) were randomly divided in 15 rearing tanks (n = 25 fish per tank) at the Centre for Fish Trials on NMBU campus. The tanks utilized a freshwater recycling aquaculture system (RAS) technology to filtrate, clean and oxygenate the returning tank water. The tanks utilized were cylindrical (see figure 5) and had an approximate volume of 300 liters.

To monitor how much feed the fish digested and excreted an yttrium-oxide marker was utilized in all diets. Yttrium-oxide (Y_2O_3) is an indigestible compound for salmon and is therefore well suited as a quantifying agent, or inert marker. By observing the amount of yttrium-oxide present in the fecal matter one can backtrack to the total feed intake of the animal (Owens & Hanson 1992). In so doing we can actively see the amount of feed which is taken up in the small intestine of the fish and how much is excreted as feces in the colon, thus giving us an estimate of digestibility of the different feeds. In addition to use of yttrium marker, uneaten feed that accumulated in the steel grating of the tanks was collected for calculations on feed conversion ratio (FCR).

Each tank was delegated a randomized diet of GP-infused feed, with each diet being utilized in a total of three tanks to generate representative results. The experiment commenced on April 24th and terminated on June 2nd, 2023, for a total of 45 days (6.5 weeks). Mean water temperature during experiment period was 14.4 °C.



Figure 5: Setup of tanks and automatic feeding conveyor belt at NMBU fishlab. Uneaten feed and faeces were accumulated in external collector located on the side of the tanks.

3.2 Feed suppliers

Feed main ingredients supplied by feed producer Aller Aqua affiliate based in Bønes in Vestland (Norway). Grass protein produced by agricultural supplier Cefetra Group (BayWa AG) based in Rotterdam (Netherlands).

Table 2: Overview of raw material composition of Aller Aqua pre-grower feed Aller Thalassa Ex 2 mm which was used as control feed in the study.

| Raw material | Composition (% |
|-------------------------------|----------------|
| Fish meal | 24.00 |
| Maize gluten | 17.50 |
| Soy bean meal | 14.68 |
| Wheat | 14.31 |
| Sunflower protein concentrate | 8.00 |
| Rapeseed oil | 4.54 |
| Fish oil | 4.50 |
| Shrimp meal | 3.00 |
| Soy bean protein concentrate | 3.00 |
| Mono-ammonium phosphate | 0.66 |
| Vitamin A & D3 | 0.50 |
| Minerals | 0.15 |
| Propyl gallate (E310) | 1.00 |

Aller Thalsassa Ex 2mm

3.3 Feed production

The grass protein feed (GP) was made between April 12th – 14th, 2023. The control feed utilized in this study was Aller Thalassa 2mm produced. GP feed method of production consisted in grinding the control feed before mixing it with the desired amount of grinded APC pellets in powder form. Both the control feed and the GP infusion feed was ground by employing a Fritsch 19 Pulverisette model cutter mill with a Fritsch 9-p trapezoidal sieve 1 mm screen perforation being utilized. Disc milling cutter rotor with indexable inserts and fixed knives made from hard metal tungsten carbide was used within cutter mill, also from producer Fritsch.

Reprocessing of Aller Thalassa was needed for growth and digestibility quantification purposes (i.e, addition of yttrium-oxide marker). During feed making process the sieve and disc milling cutter rotor had to undergo repetitive cleaning to avoid clogging of the mill canal. Sieve had very fine mesh width which easily clogged after few deposits of feed raw material. If left untreated clogging can lead to excessive friction and consequent overheating that spoils the quality of the feed.



Figure 6: Feed production equipment from left to right: a) sieve b) Pulverisette cutter mill (Heco AS) c) Italgi cold pelleting machine d) Disc cutter rotor.

Yttrium marker was mixed manually with 50 grams of GP until satisfactory homogenization was reached. This applied for all GP diets. For control feed the process was done utilizing 50 grams of Aller Thalassa 2mm exclusively where yttrium was mixed in in the same gradual manner. After the initial 50 grams, the residual amount of GP to be added to each respective diet was added in 100 g intervals and manually mixed until homogenization. Followingly, the

GP and yttrium mix were mixed in a KenwoodTM Chef XL Elite kitchen machine for 2 minutes at speed setting 1. A total of 500 g of Aller Thalassa were mixed into the GP diets gradually (50g, 100g, 100g, 100g and 150g) at 2-minute intervals for a total of 10 minutes at speed 1. The yttrium marker mixture was then placed in kitchen machine together with the rest of the grinded feed for each diet and mixed for 10 minutes.

Gelatin was added in powder form (2,5% / 25g per kg feed) to a solution of water (1 L) before being heated up to 60 °C in a microwave. This was to activate the gelatin and thus enable it to act as a binder in both the control feed as well as the GP diets. Upon activation half of the gelatinous fluid (0.5 L), was added to the feed mixture. After 5 minutes of mixing the residual 0.5 L was added. Feed mixture was then further homogenized in a Prismafood SolutionsTM planet mixer until satisfactory degree of homogenization was achieved.

When mixing was complete the homogenized dough was inserted into an ItalgiTM cold pelleting machine upon where it was further mixed and eventually pelletized after exiting the die roll and encountering the rotor blades. If the feed pellets were found to be adequately breakage-free it was approved for the study. If there was observed substantial amounts of breakage it was taken to mean an excessive dryness of the pellets, which again could affect floating ability and other physical parameters essential for optimal uptake by the fish in the tanks. When the pellets had achieved the desired texture, they were packed and stored for cooling and drying until the start of feeding.



Figure 7: Production of grass protein feed. From powder form to dough and finally to pellets.

Table 3: Feed composition of diet treatments. Control (0% GP), GP5 (5%), GP10 (10%), GP15 (15%) and GP20 (20%). Analysis carried out by LabTek at NMBU (Ås, Norway). Values for crude protein and crude fat calculated from Aller Thalassa and Cefetra APC content sheets respectively.

| Component | Control | GP5 | GP10 | GP15 | GP20 | Unit |
|------------------------|---------|-------|-------|-------|-------|------|
| Dry matter | 91.3 | 92 | 92.3 | 93.2 | 91.2 | % |
| Crude protein | 48 | 48.1 | 48.2 | 48.3 | 48.4 | % |
| Crude Fat | 15 | 14.77 | 14.55 | 14.33 | 14.1 | % |
| Starch | 8.4 | 7.8 | 7.5 | 7.4 | | |
| Ash | 6.4 | 6.7 | 7 | 7.3 | 7.4 | % |
| Nitrogen (N) | 8.2 | 8.3 | 8.3 | 8.5 | 8.2 | % |
| Carbon (C) | 46.2 | 46.6 | 46.4 | 47.3 | 46.6 | % |
| Sulphur (S) | 0.7 | 0.6 | 0.6 | 0.7 | 0.6 | % |
| Yttrium (Yt) | 0.42 | 0.37 | 0.37 | 0.37 | 0.37 | mg/g |
| Calcium (Ca) | 0.87 | 1.01 | 1.17 | 1.27 | 1.40 | % |
| Sodium (Na) | 0.33 | 0.32 | 0.31 | 0.29 | 0.27 | % |
| Magnesium (Mg) | 0.21 | 0.21 | 0.21 | 0.21 | 0.20 | % |
| Potassium (K) | 1.04 | 1.03 | 1.02 | 1 | 0.98 | % |
| Phosphorus (P) | 1.02 | 1.03 | 1.01 | 1 | 0.99 | % |
| Fatty acid composition | | | | | | |
| C6:0 | 0.05 | 0.04 | 0.04 | 0.2 | 0.05 | g/kg |
| C8:0 | 0.06 | 0.06 | 0.06 | 0.23 | 0.06 | g/kg |
| C10:0 | 0.06 | 0.06 | 0.06 | 0.25 | 0.06 | g/kg |
| C12:0 | 0.05 | 0.06 | 0.06 | 0.28 | 0.09 | g/kg |
| C14:0 | 3.2 | 3.1 | 2.9 | 2.7 | 2.7 | g/kg |
| C14:1n-7 | 0.03 | 0.03 | 0.03 | 0.13 | 0.03 | g/kg |
| C15:0 | 0.3 | 0.3 | 0.3 | 0.3 | 0.3 | g/kg |
| C16:0 | 15 | 13.6 | 13.6 | 12.6 | 13.7 | g/kg |
| C16:1n-7 | 3.3 | 3 | 2.9 | 2.6 | 2.7 | g/kg |
| C17:0 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.3 | 0.2 | g/kg |
| C18:0 | 3.3 | 2.8 | 2.7 | 2.7 | 2.8 | g/kg |
| C18:1n-9t | 0.1 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 0.2 | 0.1 | g/kg |
| 18:1n-9c | 49.9 | 38.6 | 36.9 | 32.6 | 34.6 | g/kg |
| C18:2n-6c | 22.7 | 20.4 | 19.9 | 17.9 | 19.4 | g/kg |
| C20:0 | 0.5 | 0.5 | 0.5 | 0.7 | 0.5 | g/kg |
| C18:3n-6 | 0.1 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.3 | 0.1 | g/kg |
| C20:1 | 5.4 | 4.8 | 4.6 | 4.2 | 4.3 | g/kg |
| C18:3n-3 | 5.5 | 5.7 | 6.3 | 6.6 | 7.7 | g/kg |
| C20:2 | 2.1 | 1.9 | 1.8 | 1.7 | 1.7 | g/kg |
| C22:0 | 0.3 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.6 | 0.4 | g/kg |
| C20:3n-6 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 0.2 | 0.1 | g/kg |
| C22:1n-11 | 6 | 5.3 | 5.1 | 4.6 | 4.9 | g/kg |
| C22:1n-9 | 0.6 | 0.5 | 0.5 | 0.6 | 0.,5 | g/kg |
| C20:3n-3 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.5 | 0.3 | g/kg |
| C20:4n-6 | 0.3 | 0.3 | 0.2 | 0.3 | 0.2 | g/kg |
| C24:0 | 0.1 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.4 | g/kg |
| C20:5n-3 | 4.3 | 3.8 | 3.6 | 3.3 | 3.4 | g/kg |
| C24:1 | 0.4 | 0.4 | 0.3 | 0.5 | 0.3 | g/kg |
| C22:5n-3 | 0.6 | 0.5 | 0.5 | 0.4 | 0.4 | g/kg |
| C22:6n-3 | 5.5 | 4.9 | 4.7 | 4.3 | 4.4 | g/kg |
| Total FA | 130.6 | 112 | 109.1 | 102.9 | 106.5 | g/kg |

3.4 Sampling, analyses, and data collection

3.4.1 CIELAB – Minolta Colorimetric analysis

For this analysis a Minolta CR-300 model chromameter was used. Scans for determining sample location within CIELAB color space were executed at a singular location on the fish, above the lateral line organ, posterior to the dorsal fin. Scans were only done on the left side of the fish.

The device was held at an angle that facilitated complete contact with skin of the fish relative to the curvature of the body. This was to eliminate other light sources interfering with the Minolta device sensor, which would potentially give misrepresentative readings in the CIELAB color space. The fish were scanned up to multiple times to ensure that the connection between device and skin was satisfactory, as well as ensuring uniformity of measured values on specimen. No additional measures were needed to isolate the samples from the room light pollution in the laboratory due to the disclike shape of the chromameter endpiece, whose function is namely to block out external interfering light sources.



Figure 8: Minolta CR-300 chromameter console and measuring device utilized in the experiment.

3.4.2 Feces collection

Fish were sedated with a non-lethal Finquel[®] vet. tricainmesilat solution after being removed from tanks with a net. Feces was collected by individual stripping of the fish to facilitate emptying of the colon contents. Additional fecal matter was collected routinely in the steel wire grating of the tanks, taking care to separate the feces from uneaten feed. The cumulative fecal matter of each tank was stored in separate containers in a freezer. Each day during the experiment period any occurring feces was added to the assigned containers for future analysis.

3.4.3 Scoring of liver

Ten fish (n = 10) from each tank were subjected to evaluation by liver scoring on the final sampling that occurred between $1^{st} - 2^{nd}$ June 2023. Scoring of liver was done by applying a discrete color scale for determination of fish liver color. As seen in figure 8, a low score such as 1-2 signifies a pale/yellow color and a high score (4-5) signifies a dark brown color. (Mørkøre *et al.*, 2020)



Figure 9: Liver scoring scale. (Mørkøre et al., 2020)

3.4.4 Scoring of feces

Ten fish (n = 10) from each tank were subjected to evaluation by faeces scoring on the final sampling that occurred between $1^{st} - 2^{nd}$ June 2023. Scoring of faeces was done by applying a discrete color scale for determination of faeces score (internal scale, unpublished NMBU). Scale values ranged from 1 to 4. As can be observed in figure 10, a low number in the scoring range implies a poor quality (i.e., lack of solidity) in the fecal material. In turn, a high number (3 or 4) indicates a more solid and consequently better quality of fecal material.



Figure 10: Feces scoring scale. Source: NMBU unpublished.

3.4.5 Blood markers

Three fish from each treatment (n = 1 from each tank) was sampled for blood markers. Blood markers CK, AST and ALT were collected via extraction of fish blood on final sampling June $1^{st} - 2^{nd}$. Fish were euthanized utilizing a lethal concentration of Finquel[®] vet. tricainmesilat

(500 mg/L). Followingly, blood was extracted from the caudal vein running along the spinal column of the fish via syringe. Anti-coagulant heparin was added to the samples to avoid potential clotting and undesired interaction between red blood cells and plasma contents. Phase separation of blood cells and plasma was done by centrifugation (4000 g-force for 10 minutes). After achieving phase separation plasma was extracted and pooled together according to tank number. Plasma was stored in designated tubes and kept in a freezer (-25 °C) prior to being delivered to NMBU Central Laboratory (S-Lab) in Ås (Norway), where it was further analyzed using the methodology described by Tietz (1995).

3.5 Welfare assessment methodology

Five fish from each tank (n = 15 per treatment) were examined for external welfare assessment (OWI). Selected specimens were isolated in a neutral background chamber and individually photographed. Assessment of welfare via OWI followed "FISHWELL Morphological Operational Welfare Indicators (OWI's) for farmed Atlantic salmon v1.1" methodology outlined by Noble *et al.*, 2018 (figure 11, see appendix 7.1). All welfare parameters scored on a scale of 0 - 3. Level 0: Little or no evidence of OWI (i.e. normal), level 1: minor, level 2: moderate and Level 3: clear evidence of the OWI (Appendix 7.1) (Noble *et al.*, 2018). Increase in numerical value along the scale thus implies increased severity in relation to fish welfare status. All OWI were measured on final sampling. LABWI including blood plasma analysis was conducted in the posterity of final sampling and termination of experiment.



Figure 11: Excerpt from FISHWELL OWI methodology (appendix 7.1) of the external welfare assessment criteria which were examined in this study. Source: Noble et al., 2018

3.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis and interpretation of significance was done by utilizing SAS software program (SAS, version 9.4 for Windows, SAS Institute Inc.). All data are listed as mean values with their respective standard errors (SE) unless explicitly stated otherwise. Significance level operated within 5% (P < 0.05). One-way ANOVA was used to determine significance between GP inclusion rate (0, 5, 10, 15, 20%) and response parameters. Linear regression was utilized to determine correlation between parameters and GP inclusion rate.

3.7 Calculations

Body weight gain (BWG) is the difference of the fish weigh upon slaughter versus its starting weight. BWG on a tank basis.

$$BWG(g) = final body weight(g) - initial body weight(g)$$

The condition factor (K) expresses the relationship between the fish body weight and length. The CF is therefore an estimate of the voluminousness of the fish.

$K = 100 \times body weight \times body length (cm)^{-3}$

The specific growth rate (SGR) is a coefficient which expresses the percentage of fish weight gain per day. W0 = initial weight in grams at start of period; Wf = final weight in grams at the end of the period; t(d) = period (number of days) and Ln = the natural logarithm.

$$SGR = \frac{\left(Ln(Wf) - Ln(W0)\right) \times 100}{t[d]}$$

The feed conversion ratio expresses the kilograms of feed material needed to produce one kilogram of fish body weight.

$$FCR = \frac{Feed intake (g)}{Body weight gain (g)}$$

Final body weight is the weight of the fish at the end of the experiment period and is calculated by adding the BWG to the initial body weight (IBW).

$$FBW = IBW(g) + BWG(g)$$

The hepatosomatic index (HSI) expresses how much how the fish body weight is constituted by the liver. The relationship can be expressed as a percentage.

$$HSI = \frac{Liver \ weight \ (g)}{Body \ weight \ (g)} \ x \ 100\%$$

The slaughter yield (SY) expresses how much of the fish results in saleable parts (i.e., after gutting). SY is expressed as a percentage of the body weight.

$$Slaughter yield = \frac{Gutted weight (g)}{Body weight (g)} \times 100\%$$

The fillet yield (FY) expresses how much of the body weight the fillet constitutes. FY is expressed as a percentage of the body weight.

$$Filet yield = \frac{Filet weight (g)}{Body weight (g)} \times 100\%$$

 R^2 (R-squared) is a coefficient of determination, which is a measure of how well a statistical model predicts (i.e., explains) the data occurring within a sample population. R^2 is calculated by dividing the variation between the regression line and the data points (SS_{RES}) over the variation between the mean and the data points (SS_{TOT}), then subtracting this value from 1. R^2 is therefore always a number between 0-1, indicating the explanatory power of the model as a percentage.

$$R^2 = 1 - \frac{SS_{RES}}{SS_{TOT}}$$

4. Results

4.1 Growth and feed conversion ratio

Specific growth rate (SGR) ranged from 2 ± 0.1 to 2.4 ± 0.1 , being significantly highest for the Control group and lowest for GP20 (figure 12A). The feed conversion ratio (FCR) showed a more pronounced variation pattern between the dietary treatments, with the Control group (0.75 ± 0.01) being significantly different compared with all other treatments GP5-20 (figure 12B). FCR ranged between 0.75 ± 0.1 to 0.83 ± 0.003 , being highest in GP20 and significantly lowest in the Control.

Regression analysis showed a significant negative correlation between GP inclusion rate and SGR (P = .0267) with an R² of 86.0%. FCR and GP inclusion rate were not significantly correlated (P = .0663). SGR and FCR showed a significant negative correlation (P = .0197, R² = 87.4%).



Figure 12: Bar charts (means \pm SE) depicting A) SGR and B) FCR of Atlantic salmon fed either a control feed or the same feed with increasing inclusion of grass protein for 6.5 weeks. Different letters above the error bars indicate significant differences between the dietary groups ($P \leq 0.05$).

4.2 Biometric traits

Final body weight (FBW) ranged from 55.8 ± 0.9 g to 66.8 ± 1.3 g, being significantly highest for the Control group and lowest for GP20 (figure 13A). The gutted weight (GW) showed a similar, but less pronounced variation pattern between the dietary treatments, with the Control group (53.1 ± 1.6 g) being only significantly different compared with the GP20 group (52.1 ± 1.2 g) (figure 13B)

Regression analysis indicated a significant negative correlation between FBW and GP inclusion rate (P = .0292). Regression analysis also showed a significant negative correlation

between GW and GP inclusion rate (P = .0201, R² = 87.3%). GW additionally exhibited negative correlations to liver-based parameters HSI (P = .0256, R² = 85.1%) and HSI-GW (P = .0447, R² = 78.7%).

Final body length (FBL) ranged from 16 ± 0.1 cm to 16.9 ± 0.1 cm, being significantly highest for the Control group and lowest for GP20 (figure 13C). Regression analysis showed a significant negative correlation between FBL and GP inclusion rate (P = .0234) with an R² of 86.0%.

Condition factor (CF) showed a less pronounced variation pattern between the dietary treatments, with the Control (1.35 ± 0.01) being only significantly different compared with the GP15 group (1.38 ± 0.01) (figure 13D). Regression analysis indicated no significant correlation between CF and GP inclusion rate (P = .0805).

Slaughter yield ranged from $84 \pm 0.5\%$ to $85.8 \pm 0.3\%$, being significantly highest for the GP5 group and lowest for GP20 (figure 13E). GP5 was significantly different from GP15 and GP20 treatments. Regression analysis indicated a significant negative correlation between SY and GP inclusion rate (P = .0217).





Figure 13: Bar charts (means \pm SE) depicting A) body weight (grams), B) gutted weight (grams), C) body length (cm), D) condition factor and E) slaughter yield (%) of Atlantic salmon fed either a control feed or the same feed with increasing inclusion of grass protein for 6.5 weeks. Different letters above the error bars indicate significant differences between the dietary groups ($P \leq 0.05$).

4.3 Liver

Liver weight (LW) ranged from 0.65 ± 0.03 g to 0.72 ± 0.03 g, being significantly highest for the GP20 group and lowest for Control (figure 14A). Regression analysis showed a highly significant positive correlation between LW and GP inclusion rate (P = .003, R² = 96.3%). There was also determined a significant negative correlation between FBW and LW (P = .0136, R2 = 90.1%). Additionally, LW and SGR showed a negative correlation (P = .0156, R2= 89.2%). LW and CF exhibited a significant positive correlation (P = .0486, R2 = 77.6%.)

Hepatosomatic index (HSI) ranged from 1.1 ± 0.0 to 1.2 ± 0.0 , being significantly highest for the GP20 group and lowest for the Control (figure 14B). HSI calculated based on gutted weight (HSI-GW) showed a similar, but more pronounced variation pattern between the dietary treatments, with the Control group (1.2 ± 0.0) being only significantly different compared with the GP20 group (1.4 ± 0.0) (figure 14C). Regression analysis showed a highly significant positive correlation between HSI and GP inclusion rate (P = .0006) with an R² of 98.8%. Regression analysis also determined several highly significant correlations between HSI and biometric and production efficiency traits. HSI showed a significant negative correlation with FBW (P = .0157, R² = 89.1%), SGR (P = .0171, R² = 88.5%) and SY (P = .0314, R² = 83.0%).

Liver color score (LS) showed an inconsistent variation pattern between the dietary treatments, with the GP10 ($3.2 \pm 0.1g$) and GP20 group ($3.3 \pm 0.1g$) being significantly different compared with the GP15 ($2.9 \pm 0.1g$) and GP5 ($3 \pm 0.0g$) groups (figure 14D).





Figure 14: Bar charts (means \pm SE) depicting A) liver weight (grams), B) hepatosomatic index (HIS, % of whole body weight), C) hepatosomatic index gutted weight (HSI-GW, % of gutted weight), and D) liver color score (1-5) of Atlantic salmon fed either a control feed or the same feed with increasing inclusion of grass protein for 6.5 weeks. Different letters above the error bars indicate significant differences between the dietary groups ($P \leq 0.05$).

4.4 Fish welfare

4.4.1 Blood markers (LABWI)

No significant differences were detected between treatments in relation to CK and AST levels in plasma (P > 0.05) (figure 15 A & B). ALT levels were not listed as ALT plasma values fell below the detection limit (< 7 U/L). CK levels were highest in the Control group (12498.0 \pm 3638.5 U/L) and lowest in GP20 (5560.7 \pm 1532.9 U/L). AST levels was highest in the Control group (419.0 \pm 53.5 U/L) and lowest in GP10 (258.0 \pm 97.5 U/L).

Regression analysis indicated no significant correlation between GP inclsuion rate and CK (P = .1414) or AST (P = .4576) levels. There was however detected a significant positive correlation between CK and AST levels (P = .0395) with an R² of 80.3%. There was also a significant positive correlation between FBW and CK levels (P = .0398) with an R² = 80.2%. In addition, there was also detected a significant positive correlation between CK levels and

FBL (P = .029) with an R² of 83.9%. CK levels were also significant when compared with FCR (P = .0471), exhibiting a negative correlation and an R² of 78.0%.



Figure 15: Bar charts (means \pm SE) depicting A) creatine kinase (CK) and B) Aspartate transaminase (AST) in serum of Atlantic salmon fed either a control feed or the same feed with increasing inclusion of grass protein for 6.5 weeks. Both parameters measured in units per liter (U/L). Different letters above the error bars indicate significant differences between the dietary groups ($P \leq 0.05$).

4.4.2 OWI

No significant differences were detected between treatments and OWIs scale loss (SL), skin bleeding (SB) and emaciation state (ES) (P > 0.05). Regression analysis indicated no significant correlations between OWIs and other parameters in the study.

Table 4: Welfare scoring (means \pm SE) according to FISHWELL morphological operational welfare indicators (OWI's) for farmed Atlantic salmon v1.1 (Noble et al., 2018). for Atlantic salmon (S. salar). Fish were fed either a control feed or the same feed with increasing inclusion of grass protein for 6.5 weeks. Different letters above the error bars indicate significant differences between the dietary groups ($P \le 0.05$).

| Diet | Scale Loss | Skin bleeding | Emaciation |
|---------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| Control | 2.23 ± 0.15 | 0.16 ± 0.09 | 0.07 ± 0.06 |
| GP5 | 2.52 ± 0.15 | 0.01 ± 0.09 | 0.02 ± 0.06 |
| GP10 | 2.18 ± 0.15 | 0.14 ± 0.09 | 0.09 ± 0.06 |
| GP15 | 2.34 ± 0.15 | 0.12 ± 0.09 | 0.05 ± 0.06 |
| GP20 | 2.41 ± 0.15 | 0.17 ± 0.09 | 0.08 ± 0.06 |

FISHWELL OWI



Figure 16: Photographs of fish from each treatment, with one representative per tank. 1) Control, 2) 5% *GP, 3) 10% GP, 4) 15% GP and 5) 20% GP.*

4.5 Colorimetric analysis

L*-value for skin ranged from 62.2 ± 0.9 to 66.8 ± 1.1 , being significantly highest for the Control group and lowest for GP5 (table 5). No significant difference was detected between different GP treatments and skin a*/b*-values.

Table 5: L^* , a^* and b^* -values (means $\pm SE$) for Atlantic salmon (S. salar) skin measured with MinoltaTM CR-300 Chromameter. Fish fed either a control feed or the same feed with increasing inclusion of grass protein for 6.5 weeks. Different superscripted letters indicate significant differences between the dietary groups ($P \le 0.05$).

| CIELAB Skin | | | | |
|-------------|---------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|--|
| Diet | L* | a* | b* | |
| Control | 66.8 ± 1.1^{a} | -5.5 ± 0.1^{a} | 7.5 ± 0.3^{a} | |
| GP5 | $62.2\pm0.9^{\texttt{b}}$ | -5.7 ± 0.2^{a} | $8.2\pm0.5^{\mathtt{a}}$ | |
| GP10 | 65.1 ± 0.6^{a} | $-5.8 \pm 0,2^{a}$ | $8.6\pm0.5^{\mathtt{a}}$ | |
| GP15 | $62.7\pm0.7^{\rm b}$ | $-5.6 \pm 0,2^{a}$ | $7.9\pm0.4^{\mathtt{a}}$ | |
| GP20 | 65.1 ± 0.6^{a} | -5.6 ± 0.2^{a} | 8.7 ± 0.5^{a} | |

L*-value for fillet ranged from 44.5 \pm 0.5 to 46.2 \pm 0.9, being significantly highest for the GP15 group and lowest for the Control (table 6). Fillet a*-value showed a more pronounced variation pattern between the dietary treatments, with the Control group (2.2 \pm

0.2) being significantly different compared with all other treatments (table 6). Fillet b*-value showed a similar, but less pronounced variation pattern between the dietary treatments, with GP10 (7.8 ± 0.4) being significantly different from the Control (5.6 ± 0.3) and the GP5 (6.6 ± 0.3) treatments.

Regression analysis indicated a significant negative correlation between fillet a*-value and GP inclusion rate (P = .0291) with an R² of 83.8%. In addition, fillet a*value was determined to have significant positive correlations with parameters FBW (P = .0435, R² = 79.1%), FBL (P = .0205, R² = 87.1%), SGR (.0282, R² = 84.1%) and CK (P = .0425, R² = 79.4%).

Fillet a*-values were also determined to have significant negative correlations with CF (P = .086, R² = 68.0%), FCR (P = .0082, R² = 93.0%). LW (P = .0214, R² = 87.0%), HSI (P = .0404, R² = 80.0%), HSI-GW (P = .0222, R² = 86.4%) and lastly fillet- b*-value (P = .0413, R² = 80.0%). No correlation was detected between either fillet L*-value and b*-value in relation to GP inclusion rate.

Table 6: L^* , a^* and b^* -values (means $\pm SE$) for Atlantic salmon (S. salar) fillet measured with MinoltaTM CR-300 Chromameter. Fish were fed either a control feed or the same feed with increasing inclusion of grass protein for 6.5 weeks. Different superscripted letters indicate significant differences between the dietary groups ($P \le 0.05$).

| Diet | L* | a* | b* |
|---------|--------------------------|------------------------|----------------------------|
| Control | 44.5 ± 0.5 ^b | 2.2 ± 0.2^{a} | $5.6 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$ |
| GP5 | $45.1\pm0.3^{\text{ab}}$ | 1.2 ± 0.3^{b} | $6.6\pm0.3^{\text{b}}$ |
| GP10 | $45.6\pm0.4^{\text{ab}}$ | $0.4\pm0.3^{\circ}$ | $7.8\pm0.4^{\mathtt{a}}$ |
| GP15 | 46.2 ± 0.9^{a} | $0.7\pm0.3^{	ext{bc}}$ | $7.8 \pm 0.4^{\mathtt{a}}$ |
| GP20 | 44.9 ± 0.6^{ab} | $0.1 \pm 0.19^{\circ}$ | $7.3 \pm 0.3^{\text{ab}}$ |

CIELAB Fillet

4.6 Faeces

Faeces score (FS) ranged from 2.9 ± 0.1 to $3.8 \pm 0.1g$, being significantly highest for the Control and GP5 treatment, and lowest for GP15 (figure 17). Control (3.8 ± 0.1) and GP5 (3.8 ± 0.1) differed significantly from GP10 (3.2 ± 0.1), GP15 (2.9 ± 0.1) and GP20 (3.1 ± 0.1) treatments. Regression analysis indicated that there was no significant correlation

between FS and GP inclusion rate (P = .0525, $R^2 = 76.4\%$). FS and CF was however determined to be significantly negatively correlated (P = .0182) with an R^2 of 88.0%.



Figure 17: Bar charts (means $\pm SE$) depicting faeces score of Atlantic salmon fed either a control feed or the same feed with increasing inclusion of grass protein for 6.5 weeks. Different letters above the error bars indicate significant differences between the dietary groups ($P \le 0.05$).

5. Discussion

5.1 Growth and FCR

Responsible and sustainable aquaculture practices aim to optimize growth while ensuring the overall health and well-being of the fish population. In the present study SGR was used to calculate the growth, being in the expected range for all dietary treatment groups $(2-2.4\%^{-1})$ following Austreng *et al.* (1987).

Regression analysis confirmed that a negative correlation exists between the weight gain per day (SGR) and increasing GP inclusion rate. This indicates that higher inclusion rates such as in GP20 lead to poorer growth over time. The duration of the experiment was relatively short, and the observed SGR trend may even out over a longer study. It is important to note that most measurements were close numerically. While ANOVA and regression analyses showed significant difference between dietary groups there was little difference observed subjectively between fish size in each treatment (i.e., little or no runts/ loser fish).

Abd El-Hakim *et al.*, (2009) for instance found that there was no significant difference in SGR between a dietary substitution level of 25% alfalfa grass protein when compared to the soybean meal control for nile tilapia (*O. niloticus*). There is however a considerable difference in digestive anatomy between salmonids and tilapia, which is perhaps why the tilapia tolerated greater levels of GP. Salmon lacks the capacity to digest carbohydrates efficiently due to their low amylase activity (Hemre, 2001). This may indicate

that there are some fibrous compounds left in the GP even after processing. Further processing of GP is probably needed to be suitable as salmon feed commercially. Research conducted by Samac *et al.* (2019) found that diets with 3 - 6% fish meal protein substitution with alfalfa GP did not lead to any significant differences in SGR between control and GP diets for rainbow trout. These findings are perhaps more comparable due to the relatedness of trout and salmon, though fish meal was used as the main protein source and not soy.

While ANOVA established that FCR was significantly higher between diet groups regarding GP inclusion rate, regression analysis showed that this trend was outside the area of significance (P = .0663). This a promising aspect of GP inclusion and may indicate that GP is competitive with SPC as an additional feed ingredient. It is however likely that given a longer duration the data would be fall within significance, given the close relationship between SGR and FCR and their explanatory power ($R^2 = 87.4\%$). This may suggest that even low inclusion rates of GP will lead to higher feed demands to attain the desired growth. This could potentially increase feed costs and prolong production cycles, which can be seen as a potential negative aspect of GP utilization. It is however too early to render a complete judgment on the efficiency of GP and longer trial periods are consequently recommended. Residual fiber mass in the GP concentrate in conjunction with salmonids lack of ability to break down more complex carbohydrates may be the cause of this trend in the results. Further breakdown of the GP before feeding may be required for optimal nutrient uptake by juvenile salmon.

5.2 Biometric traits

5.2.1 Final body weight

All GP treatments (GP5-20) led to significantly lower final bodyweights when compared to the Control group. This trend reached its lowest measurement in the GP20 diet which had the highest GP inclusion rate. This can be inferred from figure 12A, where there is a clear downward inclination in the relationship between GP inclusion rate and final bodyweight. Small standard error ranges relative to the fish weights measured indicate little variance within tank populations and legitimacy of results. Linear regression analysis confirmed this trend and established a negative correlation between FBW and GP inclusion rate. This was also true for FBW and liver-based parameters LW, HSI and HSI-GW, which strengthens the evidence that increasing GP inclusion leads to higher weight gain in liver and lower overall FBW.

While the results indicate that GP inclusion is not optimal for the body weight gain of juvenile salmonids, it may not necessarily be the case in the later stages of their development when the fish has become more robust. In addition, there were no recorded mortalities during the experiment, which can be seen as a promising aspect. The experiment was however conducted over a relatively short time span, and so it will be of interest in future studies to subject the fish to GP diets over longer periods of time. For comparison; Samac et al. 2019 did a similar GP experiment for yellow perch (Perca flavescens) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) over a 12-week period with promising results. While the perch is not relevant to our target species, the trout is a close relative of the salmon and is therefore more comparable. Samac et al. found no significant difference in growth performance or fillet composition in addition to a comparable FCR when fish meal protein was substituted by 3 and 6 % GP in feed formulations for juvenile rainbow trout. This contrasts the current experiment where a 5% inclusion significantly altered final body weight negatively. It would however be interesting to see how the rainbow trout had responded to inclusion rates like 10 and 15%, considering that in our study the final body weight of GP5 ($60.5 \pm 1.1g$), GP10 $(61.6 \pm 1.2g)$ and GP15 $(59.4 \pm 0.8 g)$ were all measured within approximately 1 - 2 grams of each other respectively. This is also indicative of a lack of runts between the dietary treatments, and that while there are some negative correlations statistically, there is little observed difference in fish size.

5.2.2 Gutted weight

Measurements of GW showed significant differences between 5% inclusion and 15-20% (figure 11B). Most of the data were clustered together in a relatively small range. The highest measurement represented by GP5 ($53.1 \pm 1.6g$) and the lowest by GP20 ($52.1 \pm 1.2g$) were only differentiated by a single gram, with the residual diet groups somewhere in between these measurements. Gutted weight SE across the treatments was relatively small considering the weight range and is implicative of little variation in GW between individual fish subjected to the different treatments. It would be of interest to see whether the GW results would be as closely grouped numerically if subjected to a longer experiment duration.

Despite promising results for low GP% inclusion, linear regression analysis determined a negative correlation between GP inclusion and GW. The lower GW of higher GP inclusion rates may be an indicative that feed of this composition is being converted into weight gain in non-desired parts such as organs and visceral fat. This seems plausible when considering the significant negative correlation between GW and HSI, which establishes that HSI increases as GW decreases as seen in the higher inclusion treatments.

5.2.3 Final body length

Fish given the control $(16.9 \pm 0.1 \text{ cm})$ was found to have significantly higher fish body length than all other diet groups with GP20 attaining the significantly lowest fish length $(16 \pm 0, 1 \text{ cm})$ (figure 11C). Fish body length was detected to be significantly lower at a modest 5% inclusion of GP ($16.4 \pm 0.1 \text{ cm}$), with 10-15% inclusion showing similar results. Very small range of SE implies relatively uniform size distributions within tank populations as regards final body length.

The results of fish body length correspond with those of final body weight and strengthens the evidence for a negative correlation between increasing GP inclusion rate and growth. This was confirmed by linear regression analysis, which showed a significant correlation between increasing GP% and decrease in FBL with approximately 86% of the variance between data points explained by this relation. Much like the preceding biometric traits, FBL showed strong correlation between length and all liver-based parameters, excepting LS which was only significantly correlated with CF.

5.2.4 Condition factor

CF values between treatments were found to differ significantly between Control and GP15 in ANOVA analysis. The lowest CF was represented by the control and the apex by the GP15 diet. While it is qualitatively is hard to observe even minor differences regarding leanness (or fattiness) between fish subjected to the different diet regimes, the results quantify these differences for us. The linear regression model found no significant correlation between CF and GP inclusion rate, though the correlation coefficient indicated a positive relationship between the two. This result is worth considering due to the relatively short time span the fish had to adapt to the diet before eventual slaughter. We can look back to the length parameter and see that even though the fish are getting shorter as GP levels rise, they are however not getting comparatively thinner (i.e., CF and length did not correlate significantly). CF was found to positively correlate with LW significantly, thus indicating that some of the observed increase in CF comes from increased weight gain in liver. CF was however found to correlate negatively with FS in a significant way, indicating that the fattier GP fed fish had the poorer faecal matter. Like many other parameters in the study, it would be interesting to see how the CF values would be quantified after a longer experiment duration and whether the trend continues in the same manner.

5.2.5 Slaughter yield

ANOVA analysis determined SY to be significantly lower in the highest inclusion group (GP20) when compared to lower inclusion rates like GP5, which attained the significantly highest SY. This reflects the results of the GW and was therefore expected since the most saleable part of the fish is produced after gutting. The Control group and GP10 shared similar features with the GP5 diet, but only differed significantly from the highest GP inclusion rate of 20% (GP20). The differences between treatments indicate that low-GP inclusion treatments produced the most saleable material (i.e., muscle). It is however interesting that there were no significant differences detected between treatments regarding fillet weight. This is a very important observation in the study as the fillet is the most crucial part of the fish as regards production efficiency.

The linear regression model confirmed the observed differences between treatments and established a significant negative correlation between SY and GP inclusion rate. This indicates that increasing GP inclusion rate reduces the saleable material after gutting. No significant correlation detected between fillet weight and GP inclusion rate, though the correlation coefficient indicated a negative trend.

That GW and SY initially showed the GP5 group as significantly highest may indicate a positive growth stimulus response when including small amounts of GP in the feed composition. It does however seem that there is a threshold around 5-10% before GP inclusion starts affecting production efficiency parameters negatively. The negative correlation between SY and HSI is to be expected, as liver counts as cut-off and therefore results in lower amounts of saleable material.

5.3 Liver

5.3.1 Liver weight and hepatosomatic indices

In the present study ANOVA analysis determined a significant difference between the Control and the GP20. While initially perceived as a subtle difference numerically, this represents an increase of approximately 10.8 % in LW between 0 - 20 % inclusion. The middle diets of GP5-15 ranged somewhere in between these extremities and were not

significantly different from each other. The linear regression model revealed a highly significant correlation between LW and GP inclusion rate, indicating that the significance observed in ANOVA analysis is valid and that GP inclusion leads to LW gain. With an R² of 96.3% the correlation between LW/GP has a high explanatory power for the observed differences in the data. Regression also revealed a negative correlation between FBW and LW (P = .0136), as well as SGR and LW (P = .0156). This strengthens the evidence for low (or 0%) level inclusion inhabiting the better production efficiency (i.e., desired weight gain) compared to > 5% GP inclusion treatments.

ANOVA analysis determined significant difference in HSI between 0% and 20% GP inclusion in diet, following much the same variation pattern as LW. None of this is surprising as the HSI is merely an index value explaining the fraction that the liver constitutes of the total body weight. HSI-GW also showed the same variation pattern in ANOVA, albeit more pronounced. This is expected as the liver weight will account for more when the weight of the other organ tissues is removed from the calculation. Linear regression model confirmed a highly significant (P = .0006) positive correlation for GP/HSI indicating that increase in GP results in increased HSI over time. The GP/HSI relationship accounts for 98.8% (R² = 0.9877) of the variation observed between the data. Predictably, HSI and SY were found to be negatively correlated (P = .0314) and is logical considering higher HSI indicate more organ tissue and thus more cut offs. ANOVA and linear regression analyses thus coincide for HSI related parameters and strengthen the evidence for GP inclusion leading to liver weight gain.

What caused the increased liver weight is subject to debate. Increased liver weight and has previously been associated with high fat diets fed to Atlantic cod (*G. morhua*) but does not translate well to salmon who deposits a greater percentage of lipids in musculature (Kjær et al., 2009). It may be more likely that increased LW and HSI is due to a lack of limiting amino acids such as methionine (Espe *et al.* 2010). In the study conducted by Espe *et al.*, (2010) salmon fed a low-level methionine diet had increased liver size relative to bodyweight as well as increased activity of fatty acid synthase. GP does however have slightly more methionine than SPC (see table 1) and methionine levels should therefore be adequate in the present study.

5.3.2 Liver scoring

Results from liver scoring fluctuated between diet groups making it somewhat difficult to interpret any trend by way of ANOVA. It was however detected a significant difference between GP10 and GP20 compared with the GP5 and GP15 treatments (figure 13D). When

comparing these numbers to the liver scoring scale all values center around the middle score of 3, implying a brownish liver color for all diets on average. This indicates that while there is some numerical fluctuation and statistically significant differences between treatments, their end liver score is largely the same. Liver color is thus qualitatively observed as brown. Linear regression model showed no significant correlations between LS and all other parameters measured in the study. This indicates that GP inclusion has no effect upon LS, an interesting observation considering the tight relationship between GP and liver weight gain.

5.4 Fish welfare

No mortalities occurred during the experiment. While no significant differences were detected between treatments regarding operational welfare indicators in ANOVA analysis, there was still observed a relatively high scoring for scale loss across all treatments. Scale loss was most visible on fish from the GP20 group (see figure 14). Juvenile salmon and scale loss is however a common relation, as the fish starts moving from the parr stage into the smoltification phase and prepares for life in the ocean (Noble *et al.*, 2018). Welfare scoring of skin bleeding and emaciation state revealed very low scores (table 2) and was not prevalent across all treatments. Linear regression revealed no significant correlation between external OWIs and all other parameters tested for in the study. The results indicate that GP inclusion does not significantly affect scale loss, skin bleeding or emaciation state of juvenile Atlantic salmon.

ANOVA determined a lack of significance between treatments CK/AST levels. While CK levels in the Control group was numerically much higher than other groups, large SE ranges made it hard to interpret any definitive trend. Linear regression model determined no significant correlation between GP inclusion rate and CK/AST levels in plasma. CK and AST did however exhibit a positive correlation (P = .0395) with each other, indicating a conjunctive rise in salmon CK/AST plasma levels. This may be because they are located in many of the same tissues (Aulbach & Amuzie, 2017; Rojas *et al.*, 2018). CK/FBW was additionally determined to be significantly positively correlated, as was the case with CK/FBL. This may be because of larger individuals having more units per liter of CK in plasma due to their relative size difference. CK/FCR exhibited a negative correlation (P = .0471), which perhaps strengthens the explanation behind CK/FBW relationship.

5.5 Colorimetry – CIELAB results

5.5.1 L*-value (lightness)

L*-value measurements on fish skin was relatively inconclusive. As can be inferred from table 2, ANOVA analysis showed different treatments alternated in significant difference. This led to the control, GP10 and GP20 being significantly different compared with GP5 and GP15. This makes it difficult to say anything definitive about the effect of the feed on the luminosity of pigmentation of the fish. For instance, 0% GP and 20% GP are found to not differ from each other statistically, and if there was an expected difference to occur it was between these diets. Linear regression model seems to confirm this lack of cohesiveness in results for L*-skin value, showing no significant correlation with any of the measured parameters in the study.

There are two main hypotheses behind the results; 1) inaccuracy in the measurements, or 2) GP has little to no effect on skin luminosity. In relation to 1), other studies such as Rosenau *et al.* (2022) measured two more locations for CIELAB values (anterior to dorsal fin and by the adipose fin) in addition to where it was approximately measured in the present study (posterior to dorsal fin and above lateral line). The same approximate locations were used for fillet colorimetry. The average of three locations is likely to produce more stable values per fish. In the same study spirulina did not however have any significant effect on skin colorimetry of trout. This indicates that muscle pigmentation is more easily affected by novel feed ingredients than skin. The cause of the results in the present study may very well be due to a combination of 1) and 2). It may also be because of the scale loss detected in the OWI welfare assessment, leading to perhaps more silvery skin on some fish than others. In the study we also only measured CIELAB values on the left side of the fish, which may have contributed to the fluctuations in L*-value.

L*-value ANOVA results from salmon fillet was more easily interpreted. The control was found to have the significantly lowest L*-value, indicating the darkest fillet among the treatments. In contrast the significantly highest L*value and consequently the lightest fillet was found in the GP15 diet. Linear regression model showed significant positive correlation between fillet L*-value and CF (P = .0503). This barely qualifies but may indicate that fattier fish with higher CF have lighter fillets. The fish with the highest CF in this study was those fed higher GP inclusion rates, and thus may be indicative that these fish have lighter fillets. L*value for fillet exhibited no other significant correlations with parameters measured in the study.

Rosenau *et al.* 2022 found no detectable difference in luminosity in dietary groups fed spirulina (*A. platensis*), while fillet colorimetric characteristics changed significantly. As suggested before, this may be indicative that it is harder to affect skin pigmentation than fillet color when feeding plant-based ingredients (Schafberg *et al.*, 2020; Teimouri *et al.*, 2013).

5.5.2 a*-value (red/green)

No significant change in skin a*-value detected between treatments in ANOVA analysis. GP inclusion seemingly does not lead to any shift in skin pigmentation in either red (+) or green (-) direction of the CIELAB color space. Measurements averaged -5.6 ± 0.2 across the different treatments, indicating juvenile salmonid skin color is inherently located in the green part of the color space. Linear regression model found no correlation between skin a*-value and GP inclusion rate, confirming what is observed across one-way ANOVA.

Linear regression model showed a negative correlation between increasing GP inclusion rate and fillet a*-value (P = .0291). This coincides with the finds done by ANOVA analysis, wherein the control had the significantly highest a*-value and differed significantly from all other treatments, with the highest inclusion rate being lowest. This is an interesting find as it shows that fillet color is moving from the red part of the CIELAB color space towards the green part by inclusion of GP in the feed. This can be labelled as a non-desired trait of GP utilization in salmon feeds, considering that a large part of salmonid marketability comes from its distinct red/pink fillet color. Similar colorimetric changes were recorded by Rosenau *et al.* (2022) and Skalli *et al.* (2020), albeit with a yellow color shift in fillets for different salmonid species when subjected to dietary treatments containing two different species of green microalgae. This type of colorimetric change can perhaps be expected somewhat due to alfalfa and green microalgae both inhabit chlorophyll which are green pigments.

Fillet a*-value showed positive correlations with production efficiency parameters, which is to be expected since the treatments with the biggest growth exhibited the highest fillet (+) a*-values and are thus located more towards the red part of the CIELAB color space. Fillet a*-values also showed negative correlations with CF, FCR and liver-based parameters, which is predictable due to lower FCR and CF being associated with the lower inclusion diets. Additionally, fillet a*-value and b*-value were negatively correlated. This can be interpreted as greenness and yellowness being correlated, i.e, that low fillet a*-value coincides with higher fillet b*value and vice versa (see table 4).

5.5.3 b*-value (yellow/blue)

Like a*-value measurements, there was not found any significant difference between treatments in ANOVA analysis for b*-skin. Linear regression confirmed that GP inclusion rate and b*-value for salmon skin had no relation.

ANOVA analysis of b*-value in fillet revealed that GP inclusion led to an increase of yellowness. This initially indicates that there is a positive correlation between GP inclusion rate and yellow color deposition (i.e., increase in b*-value) in the salmon fillets. This is similar to the findings of Rosenau *et al.* (2022). Linear regression model rejects this proposed relationship and finds no significant correlation between GP inclusion rate and b*-fillet value. It is not however unlikely that there is some relation between these when considering the results of Skalli *et al.* (2020) and Rosenau *et al.* (2022). Yellow is a color that is often associated with rancidity in fish fillets and particularly in the lipid-rich salmon fillet. It is therefore a good thing that there is no significant connection between GP utilization and yellow coloration.

5.6 Faeces scoring

ANOVA analysis showed significant differences between the lowest inclusion rates of the Control and GP5 when compared to the residual treatments (GP10-20) FS. Based on ANOVA results any inclusion degree beyond 5% (GP5) had a detrimental effect on the quality of fish fecal matter. The control and GP5 shared near identical feces scores of approximately 3.8, which is equivalent to a near solid feces or alternatively in the upper range of semi-solid (see figure 14). This is indicative that a low-level GP inclusion such as 5% does not adversely affect fish gut health and faeces formation in the colon. The SE of the GP5 and control groups was relatively low and comparable between the two treatments. This indicates a high degree of uniformity in faeces score between individual fish in the tanks subjected to the control and GP5 diets. At 10% inclusion significant reduction in solidity was observed, dropping an approximate 0.5 point on the faeces scoring scale. Here the SE also had a relatively low range indicating uniformity in the population subjected to 10% GP inclusion. The significant reduction in faeces solidity that occurred between 5-10% inclusion is indicative of a critical threshold existing somewhere between these percentages. If that threshold is exceeded (as in GP10) it is highly probable it will result in adverse effects on gut health and problems with regulating the solidity of faeces in the colon. This is what is observed in consequent treatments and FS (see figure 14), of which solidity of faeces dropped from semi-solid to more liquid consistency. Reid *et al.* (2024) discovered that time elapsed from feeding affected Atlantic salmon gut microbiota and consequently faecal score. This factor in combination with the adaptation to the grass protein may have contributed to the observed results.

Linear regression determined that FS and GP inclusion rate had a significant negative correlation (P = .05, $R^2 = 76.4\%$). This strengthens the observations outlined above and indicates that FS decreases upon increasing GP. FS showed a negative correlation with CF, indicating poorer faecal quality for higher GP inclusion diets which coincidentally had the highest CF as well. It is probable that there is something in GP composition that is harder for salmonids to break down completely without additional processing beforehand. This may be as suggested earlier some type of insoluble fiber or complex carbohydrate. It is well established that soy-based products can lead to detrimental effects on gut health for salmonids (Gajardo, 2016; Krogdahl *et al.*, 2015). It is however noteworthy that lower inclusion (or no inclusion) does not show adverse effects on faecal matter. This may indicate that there is something that irritates the gut in GP diets, in addition to the residual ANFs in the SPC of the feed.

6. Conclusion

The present study found that GP from alfalfa showed promising results in some respects, while highlighting difficulties in others. GP inclusion rate was shown to alter several production efficiency parameters significantly. In some parameters it was adequate with a low-level inclusion of 5% to generate significant differences between groups, while in others it required a high-level inclusion of 20%. Regression analysis confirmed the negative correlation between production efficiency parameters and GP inclusion rate. On the strength of these observations, we reject H_1 .

Regarding welfare, no external observations indicated detrimental developments from consuming GP feed. Internal molecules were not detected in imbalanced proportions, indicating that the fish was able to maintain homeostasis when fed GP included feed. Scale loss was normal relative to developmental stage. Linear regression model confirmed the lack of significance between GP inclusion and all welfare parameters. On the strength of these observations, we accept H₂.

In measurements of juvenile salmon colorimetric characteristics there was relatively inconclusive results as regards luminosity of skin. Luminosity of fillet was however higher in diets fed increased GP. Fillet a*value was also significantly lower in higher GP treatments which correlated with increased b*value (i.e., yellowness). This leads us to reject H₃ as color was significantly affected by introducing GP in the feed.

Time was an important factor in the present study, occurring in a span of 45 days (6.5 weeks). This is a relatively short time for the juvenile salmon to adapt to the feed. It is of interest to conduct experiments on grass protein with a longer duration to verify the presently observed trends in the study.

7. Appendix

7.1 FISHWELL Welfare indicators



7. 2 Cefetra APC content sheet



8. References

- Aas, T. S., Ytrestøyl, T., & Åsgård, T. E. (2019). Resource utilization of Norwegian salmon farming in 2016 – Professional final report. In: Nofima rapportserie. Nofima AS. URL: https://nofima.brage.unit.no/nofima-xmlui/handle/11250/2608436 (Accessed 17.11.2023)
- Abd El-Hakim, N., Hussein, M., & Abdel-Halim, H. (2009). Effect of partial replacement of soybean meal protein with dehydrated alfalfa meal (Medicago sativa L.) on growth performance and feed utilization of male Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus L.) fingerlings reared in tanks. *Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Biology and Fisheries*, 13(2), 35–52. DOI: https://doi.org/10.21608/ejabf.2009.2031 (Accessed 17.11.20223)
- Aujla R.S. & Patel, R. (2022, 24th October) «Creatine Phosphokinase». In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 Jan. DOI: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK546624/ (Accessed 24.11.2023)
- Aulbach, A.D. & Amuzie C.J. (2017) Chapter 17 Biomarkers in Nonclinical Drug In A. Said Faqi (Eds.). A Comprehensive Guide to Toxicology in Nonclinical Drug Development (Second Edition, pp. 447-471). Academic Press. ISBN 9780128036204. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128036204000177 (Accessed 24.11.2023)
- Austreng, E., Storebakken, T., & Åsgård, T. (1987). Growth rate estimates for cultured Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. *Aquaculture*, *60*(2), 157–160. DOI. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(87)90307-3 (Accessed 14.12.2023)
- Bals, Bryan & Dale, Bruce & Balan, Venkatesh. (2012). Recovery of Leaf Protein for Animal Feed and High-Value Uses. In: C.V. Stevens (eds.) *Biorefinery Co-Products* (pp.179-197). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. DOI: 10.1002/9780470976692.ch9.
- Britannica, T. Editors of Encyclopaedia (2023. 21st September). *«Choline»*. Encyclopedia Britannica. URL: <u>https://www.britannica.com/science/choline</u> (Accessed 17.11.2023)
- Cabaniss, C.D. (1990) «Creatine Kinase». In: Walker HK, Hall WD, Hurst JW, editors. *Clinical Methods: The History, Physical, and Laboratory Examinations*. 3rd edition. Boston: Butterworths; 1990. Chapter 32. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK352/</u> (Accessed 27.11.2023)
- CIE. (1977). CIE recommendations on uniform color spaces, color-difference equations, and metric color terms. *Color Research & Application*, 2, 5–6. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1520-6378.1977.tb00102.x</u> (Accessed 10.12.2023)
- Coburn, J., Wells, M. S., Phelps, N. B. D., Gaylord, T. G., & Samac, D. A. (2021). Acceptance of a Protein Concentrate from Alfalfa (Medicago sativa) by Yellow Perch

(Perca flavescens) Fed a Formulated Diet. *Fishes*, *6*(2), 9. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/fishes6020009 (Accessed 05.10.2023)

- Daniel, N. (2018). A review on replacing fish meal in aqua feeds using plant protein sources. International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Studies, 6, 164-179. URL: https://www.fisheriesjournal.com/archives/2018/vol6issue2/PartC/6-1-35-823.pdf (Accessed 06.10.2023)
- Dessen, J.E., Østbye, T.K., Ruyter, B., Bou, M., Thomassen, S.S.M. & Rørvik K-A. (2020). Sudden increased mortality in large seemingly healthy farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) was associated with environmental and dietary changes. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/10454438.2020.1726237</u> (Accessed 25.11.2023)
- Domokos-Szabolcsy, É, Yavuz, S. R., Picoli, E., Fári, M. G., Kovács, Z., Tóth, C., Kaszás, L., Alshaal, T., & Elhawat, N. (2023). Green Biomass-Based Protein for Sustainable Feed and Food Supply: An Overview of Current and Future Prospective. *Life (Basel, Switzerland), 13*(2), 307. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/life13020307 (Accessed 22.09.2023)
- Egerton, S., Wan, A., Murphy, K., Collins, F., Ahern, G., Sugrue, I., Busca, K., Egan, F., Muller, N., Whooley, J., McGinnity, P., Culloty, S., Ross, R. P., & Stanton, C. (2020). Replacing fishmeal with plant protein in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) diets by supplementation with fish protein hydrolysate. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 4194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60325-7</u> (Accessed 30.11.2023)
- Espe, M., Rathore, R. M., Du, Z.-Y., Liaset, B., & El-Mowafi, A. (2010). Methionine limitation results in increased hepatic FAS activity, higher liver 18:1 to 18:0 fatty acid ratio and hepatic TAG accumulation in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar. *Amino Acids*, 39(2), 449–460. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-009-0461-2</u> (Accessed 14.12.2023)
- FAO (2022) «The state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2022». Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. FAO 2022 reports. URL: https://www.fao.org/3/cc0461en/online/sofia/2022/world-fisheries-aquaculture.html (Accessed 05.09.2023)
- Feedtables. Editors of Feedtables (2023a) «Alfalfa protein concentrate». Feedtables.com INRAE CIRAD AFZ © 2017-2021. METEX NØØVISTAGO & EAAP. URL: https://www.feedtables.com/content/alfalfa-protein-concentrate (Accessed 19.11.2023)
- Feedtables. Editors of Feedtables (2023b) «Soybean protein concentrate ». Feedtables.com INRAE CIRAD AFZ © 2017-2021. METEX NØØVISTAGO & EAAP. URL: https://www.feedtables.com/content/soybean-protein-concentrate-protein-60-70 (Accessed 12.12.2023)

- Feedtables. Editors of Feedtables (2023c) *«Fish meal, protein 70%»*. Feedtables.com. INRAE CIRAD AFZ © 2017-2021. METEX NØØVISTAGO & EAAP. URL: https://www.feedtables.com/content/fish-meal-protein-70 (Accessed 19.11.2023)
- Fiorentini, R., & Galoppini, C. (1983). The proteins from leaves. *Qualitas Plantarum Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 32(3-4), 335–350. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01091193</u> (Accessed 10.12.2023)
- Gajardo, K. (2016). Nutrition and intestinal health in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar): involvement of antinutrients and microbiota. In: *PhD Thesis*. Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås. URL: <u>https://nmbu.brage.unit.no/nmbuxmlui/handle/11250/2447796</u> (Accessed 13.12.2023)
- Hanna, M. A., & Ogden, R. L. (1980). Expression of alfalfa juice. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 28(6), 1212–1216. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jf60232a070</u> (Accessed 10.12.2023)
- Hansen, T., Fjelldal, P. G., Yurtseva, A. & Berg, A. (2010) A possible relation between growth and number of deformed vertebrae in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). *Journal of Applied Ichthyology 26(2)*, 355-359. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-</u> 0426.2010.01434.x (Accessed 13.12.2023)
- Hardy, R. W. (2010). Utilization of plant proteins in fish diets: effects of global demand and supplies of fishmeal. Aquaculture Research, 41(5), 770–776. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2009.02349.x (Accessed 28.09.2023)
- Hemre, G.I. (2001). Karbohydrat i fiskeernæring. In Waagbø, R., Espe, M., Hamre, K. & Lie, Ø. (eds) *Fiskeernæring*, pp. 77-92: Kystnæringen Forlag & bokklubb AS, Bergen, Norway.
- Jiménez Guerrero, R. (2018). In vivo and in vitro study of dark pigment development in Atlantic salmon using novel methods based on image analysis. Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås.
- Josefsen, K.D., Mehta, S., Hagemann, A., Malzahn, A., Schrøder, M.B., Nymark, M. & Aursand, I.G. (2023) Veikart for industriell fremstilling av norske fôrråvarer (protein): Et svar på det målrettede samfunnsoppdraget om fremstilling av bærekraftig norsk fôr til akvakultur og husdyrhold. In: K.A. Almås (eds.), SINTEF Ocean AS. 2023:00517. URL: https://www.sintef.no/globalassets/sintef-ocean/barekraftig-for/rapport-industriell-fremstilling-av-norske-forravarer---signed.pdf (Accessed 28.09.2023)
- Kjær, M. A., Vegusdal, A., Berge, G. M., Galloway, T. F., Hillestad, M., Krogdahl, Åshild, Holm, H., & Ruyter, B. (2009). Characterisation of lipid transport in Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) when fasted and fed high or low fat diets. *Aquaculture, 288*(3-4), 325–336. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.12.022</u> (Accessed 14.12.2023)
- Knuckles, B. E., Bickoff, E. M., & Kohler, G. O. (1972). PRO-XAN process. Methods for increasing protein recovery from alfalfa. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*,

20(5), 1055–1057. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jf60183a020</u> (Accessed on 08.11.2023)

- Konica Minolta (2019a. April 26th) *«How to Communicate Color Precisely?»* Konica Minolta Sensing Singapore Pte Ltd. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ok0HSZNMQw0 (Accessed 19.11.2023)
- Konica Minolta (2019b) «Precise Color Communication: L*a*b* color space.» ©2011-2019 Konica Minolta, Inc. URL: https://www.konicaminolta.com/instruments/knowledge/color/part1/07.html (Accessed 19.11.2023)
- Konica Minolta (2023) «Chromameters / colorimeters: What is a colorimeter?». ©2006-2023 Konica Minolta Sensing Americas Inc. URL: https://sensing.konicaminolta.us/us/technologies/chroma-meters-colorimeters/ (Accessed 19.11.2023)
- Koschuh, W., Povoden, G., Thang, V.H., Kromus, S., Kulbe, K.D., Novalin, S., Krotscheck, C., (2004) Production of leaf protein concentrate from ryegrass (Lolium perenne x multiflorum) and alfalfa (Medicago sativa subsp. sativa). Comparison between heat coagulation/centrifiguration and ultrafiltration. *Desalination 163*, 253–259. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0011-9164(04)90197-X. (Accessed 05.12.2023)
- Krogdahl, Å., Gajardo, K., Kortner, T. M., Penn, M., Gu, M., Berge, G. M., & Bakke, A. M. (2015). Soya Saponins Induce Enteritis in Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar L.). *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 63(15), 3887–3902. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1021/jf506242t (Accessed 25.10.2023)
- Ly, B., Dyer, E., Feig, J., Chien, A., Del Bino, S. (2020). Research Techniques Made Simple: Cutaneous Colorimetry: A Reliable Technique for Objective Skin Color Measurement. The *Journal of investigative dermatology*. 140. DOI:10.1016/j.jid.2019.11.003 (Accessed 19.11.2023)
- McEniy, J. & O' Kiely, P. (2014) Developments in grass-/forage-based biorefineries, In: K. Waldron (eds.), Advances in Biorefineries: Biomass and Waste Supply Chain Exploitation (pp. 335-363), ISBN 9780857095213, Woodhead Publishing Limited. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857097385.1.335 (Accessed 04.12.2023)
- Mowi (2022) *«Salmon Farming Industry Handbook 2022»*. Mowi ASA. URL: https://mowi.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/2022-Salmon-Industry-Handbook-1.pdf (Accessed 28.09.2023)
- Mørkøre, T., Moreno, H. M., Borderías, J., Larsson, T., Hellberg, H., Hatlen, B., Romarheim, O. H., Ruyter, B., Lazado, C. C., Jimenez Guerrero, R., Bjerke, M. T., Benitez-Santana, T., & Krasnov, A. (2020). Dietary inclusion of Antarctic krill meal during the finishing feed period improves health and fillet quality of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). *British Journal of Nutrition* (2020), 124, 418–431. DOI:10.1017/S0007114520001282 (Accessed 27.11.2023)

- Mørkøre (2023) *Feed to food: Nutrition and Physiology of Fish and Shellfish.* NMBU. Unpublished book chapter.
- Møller, A. H., Hammershøj, M., dos Passos, N. H. M., Tanambell, H., Stødkilde, L., Ambye-Jensen, M., Danielsen, M., Jensen, S. K., & Dalsgaard, T. K. (2021). Biorefinery of Green Biomass - How to Extract and Evaluate High Quality Leaf Protein for Food? *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 69(48), 14341–14357. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.1c04289 (Accessed 08.12.2023)
- NCE Seafood Innovation (2022) «Industry insight: Future ingredients for Norwegian salmon feed». URL: <u>https://seafoodinnovation.no/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Indsutry-</u> <u>Insight_Future-Feed-Ingredients_FINAL.pdf</u> (Accessed 28.09.2023)
- Nissen, S. H., Lübeck, M., Møller, A. H., & Dalsgaard, T. K. (2022). Protein recovery and quality of alfalfa extracts obtained by acid precipitation and fermentation. *Bioresource Technology Reports, 19*, 101190. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2022.101190</u> (Accessed 19.11.2023)
- Noble, C., Gismervik, K., Iversen, M.H., Kolarevic, J., Nilsson, J., Stien, L.H., Turnbull, J.F. (eds.) (2018) Welfare Indicators for farmed Atlantic salmon: Tools for assessing fish welfare. Nofima, Havforskningsinstituttet, veterinærinstiuttet, NORD universitet & University of Stirling. URL: <u>https://nofima.no/publikasjon/1636395/</u>
- Li, X., & Brummer, E. C. (2012). Applied Genetics and Genomics in Alfalfa Breeding. *Agronomy*, 2(1), 40–61. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy2010040</u> (Accessed 04.12.2023)
- Lopez M.J., Mohiuddin S.S. (2023, March 13th) *Biochemistry, Essential Amino Acids*. In: StatPearls Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 Jan. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK557845/</u> (Accessed 17.11.2023)
- Olvera-Novoa, M. A., Campos, S. G., Sabido, M. G., & Martínez Palacios, C. A. (1990). The use of alfalfa leaf protein concentrates as a protein source in diets for tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus). *Aquaculture*, 90(3), 291–302. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(90)90253-J (Accessed 17.11.2023)
- Owens, F.N. & Hanson, C.F. (1992) External and Internal Markers for Appraising Site and Extent of Digestion in Ruminants. *Journal of Dairy Science* (1992), 75, Issue 9. 2605-2617. ISSN 0022-0302. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)78023-0</u>. (Accessed 27.11.2023)
- Pacheco, P., Mo, K., Dudley, N., Shapiro, A., Aguilar-Amuchastegui, N., Ling, P.Y., Anderson, C. and Marx, A. (2021). *«Deforestation fronts: Drivers and responses in a changing world.»* WWF, Gland, Switzerland. URL:
 <u>https://wwfint.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/deforestation fronts</u> <u>drivers_and_responses_in_a_changing_world__full_report_1.pdf</u> (Accessed 21.09.2023)
- Peterson, B. C., Burr, G. S., & Gaylord, G. T. (2022). Effects of histidine on growth performance of North American Atlantic salmon. *Journal of the World Aquaculture*

Society, *53*(2), 401–410. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12873</u> (Accessed 17.11.2023)

- Putnam, D.H & Orloff, S.B. (2014) Forage Crops. Eds. Van Alfen, N.K. Encyclopedia of Agriculture and Food Systems, Academic Press, 2014. Pages 381-405, ISBN 9780080931395. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-52512-3.00142-X. (Accessed 18.11.2023)
- Reid, C. E., Bissett, A., Huynh, C., Bowman, J. P., & Taylor, R. S. (2024). Time from feeding impacts farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) gut microbiota and faecal score. Aquaculture, 579, 740174. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2023.740174</u> (Accessed 14.12.2023)
- Rojas, V., Morales-Lange, B., Avendaño-Herrera, R., Poblete-Morales, M., Tapia-Cammas, D., Guzmán, F., Marshall, S. H., & Mercado, L. (2018). Detection of muscle-specific creatine kinase expression as physiological indicator for Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L) skeletal muscle damage. *Aquaculture*, 496, 66–72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.07.006 (Accessed 05.12.2023)
- Rosenau, S., Ciulu, M., Reimer, C., Mott, A. C., Tetens, J., & Mörlein, D. (2022). Feeding green: Spirulina (Arthrospira platensis) induced changes in production performance and quality of salmonid species. *Aquaculture Research*, 53(12), 4276–4287. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/are.15925 (Accessed 04.12.2023)
- Rungruangsak-Torrissen, K. (2014). Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L.: food utilization, protein growth efficiency and maturation. In: *Salmon: biology, ecological impacts and eonomic importance*. P.T.K Woo & D.J. Noakes (eds.). Institute of Marine Research. Nova Science Publishers, Inc. URL: <u>https://imr.brage.unit.no/imr-</u> <u>xmlui/handle/11250/2581317</u> (Accessed 30.11.2023
- Salo-väänänen, P. P., & Koivistoinen, P. E. (1996). Determination of protein in foods:
 comparison of net protein and crude protein (N × 6.25) values. *Food Chemistry*, 57(1), 27–31.DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0308-8146(96)00157-4</u> (Accessed 05.12.2023)
- Samac, D.A., Coburn, J.E.M., Phelps, N., Wells, M.S. (2019). «Alfalfa leaf protein concentrate: A sustainable protein source for aquaculture feeds». University of Minnesota. URL: https://hdl.handle.net/11299/202990 (Accessed 21.09.2023)
- Santamaría-Fernández, M., & Lübeck, M. (2020). Production of leaf protein concentrates in green biorefineries as alternative feed for monogastric animals. *Animal Feed Science* and Technology, 268, 114605. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114605</u> (Accessed 10.12.2023)
- Schafberg, M., Loest, K., Müller-Belecke, A., & Rohn, S. (2020). Impact of processing on the antioxidant activity of a microorganism-enriched fish feed and subsequent quality effects on fillets of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Aquaculture*, *518*, 734633. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734633</u> (Accessed 14.12.2023)

- Skalli, A., Firmino, J. P., Andree, K. B., Salomón, R., Estévez, A., Puig, P., Sabater-Martínez, M., Hechavarria, T., & Gisbert, E. (2020). The Inclusion of the Microalga Scenedesmus sp. in Diets for Rainbow Trout, Onchorhynchus mykiss, Juveniles. *Animals (Basel), 10*(9), 1. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10091656</u> (Accessed 10.05.2023)
- Stien, L. H., Bracke, M. B. M, Folkedal, O., Nilsson, J., Oppedal, F., Torgersen, T., Kittilsen, S., Midtlyng, P. J., Vindas, M. A., Øverli, Ø. & Kristiansen, T. S. (2013) Salmon Welfare Index Model (SWIM 1.0): a semantic model for overall welfare assessment of caged Atlantic salmon: review of the selected welfare indicators and model presentation. *Reviews in Aquaculture 5*, 33-57. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-5131.2012.01083.x</u> (Accessed 08.12.2023)
- Storebakken, T (2002) Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar. In: Webster, C. D. and C. Lim (eds.), Nutrient Requirements and Feeding of Finfish for Aquaculture, pp. 79-102. CABI. URL: <u>https://books.google.no/books/about/Nutrient_Requirements_and_Feeding_of_Fin.ht</u> <u>ml?id=9Vohcd0lSJQC&redir_esc=y</u> (Accessed 30.11.2023)
- Subasinghe, R., Soto, D., & Jia, J. (2009). Global aquaculture and its role in sustainable development. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 1(1), 2–9. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-5131.2008.01002.x</u> (Accessed 20.09.2023)
- Tacon, A. G. J., & Metian, M. (2015). Feed Matters: Satisfying the Feed Demand of Aquaculture. Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture, 23(1), 1–10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/23308249.2014.987209 (Accessed 08.09.2023)
- Teimouri, M., Amirkolaie, A. K., & Yeganeh, S. (2013). Effects of Spirulina platensis meal as a feed supplement on growth performance and pigmentation of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Aquaculture*, 396, 14–19. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2013.02.009</u> (Accessed 04.12.2023)
- Tietz, N. W. (ed) 1995. Clinical guide to laboratory tests, WB Saunders. Philadelphia, PA.
- Tilseth, S., Hansen, T., & Møller, D. (1991). Historical development of salmon culture. *Aquaculture*, 98(1-3), 1–9. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(91)90367-G
- Ünal Şengör, G.F., Balaban, M.O., Topaloğlu, B., Ayvaz, Z., Ceylan, Z & Doğruyol, H.
 (2019). Color assessment by different techniques of gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) during cold storage. *Ciência e Tecnologia de Alimentos*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1590/fst.02018 (Accessed 19.11.2023)
- Welker, C., De Negro, P., & Sarti, M. (2001). Green algal carotenoids and yellow pigmentation of rainbow trout fish. *Aquaculture International*, 9(1), 87–93. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012582426150</u> (Accessed 08.12.2023)



Norges miljø- og biovitenskapelige universitet Noregs miljø- og biovitskapelege universitet Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås Norway